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Reference: (03/2021)

Approval of the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for year ended 31
December 2020

This is a company announcement issued by Merkanti Holding p.l.c. (C 70823) (the "Company")
pursuant to the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority.

Board of Directors Meeting
The Company announces that the Board of Directors has on 29 April 2021, considered and
approved the Company’s annual report and audited financial statements for the period ended 31

December 2020.

These can be viewed on the Company’s website at http://www.merkantiholding.com/

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the Company was held on the 29 April 2021 and at this meeting
the Shareholders considered and approved the following resolutions:

Ordinary Resolutions:
1. That the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the Directors’
and Auditors’ Report thereon be approved;

2. That the reappointment of PwC Malta as Auditors of the Company be approved and that
the Board of Directors be authorised to fix their remuneration;

3. That Mr. Mario Galea and Mr. Benjamin Muscat be re-appointed as Directors of the
Company for a one-year period,;

Extraordinary Resolutions:
4) that, the Company’s memorandum and articles of association be substituted in their
entirety with the new memorandum and articles of association approved at the meeting
and as previously approved by the MFSA and the Listing Authority.
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Directors’ report

The board of directors (“the Board”) present their report and the audited financial statements of Merkanti
Holding p.l.c. (the “Company”, formerly MFC Holding Limited) and Merkanti Holding p.l.c. Group - (the
“Group”, formerly MFC Holding Limited Group), for the year ended 31 December 2020. The subsidiaries
include Merkanti Bank Limited (the “Bank”, formerly MFC Merchant Bank Limited), Merkanti (A)
International Limited (“Merkanti A”, formerly MFC (A) Limited), Merkanti (D) International Limited
("Merkanti D", formerly MFC (D) Limited), (“Merkanti A", together with “Merkanti D", the “Property
Companies”), Altmark Immobilien Management GmbH (“A.l.LM.") the "Property Management Company”,
Merkanti Diesel Limited (“Merkanti Diesel”), and MFCR Oriental S.A. (“MFCR").

Subsidiaries

The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the Group as at 31 December 2020:

Merkanti
Holding plc

94.9% 100% 100%

MFCR
Oriental S.A.

Merkanti Holding p.l.c. is a holding and finance company that does not carry on any trading activities apart
from the raising of capital and advancing the same to the Group. Accordingly, the Company is
economically dependent on the Group. The principal activities of the Group are comprised of the activities
of the Bank, the Property Companies and their management Company, the litigation financing Company
and the South American Company explained further in the ‘Review of the business’ section below.

Merkanti

Merkanti (A)
Merkanti Bank Ltd International
Limited

Merkanti (D) Altmark Immobilien

Management GmbH

Diesel
Limited

International
Limited

Principal activities

On 12 August 2019, the Company issued €25,000,000 secured bonds carried at a tenor of 7 years with a
coupon of 4%. The proceeds of the issuance were utilised to support the expansion of the business of the
Bank and the Property Companies. The bond issuance was listed on the Malta Stock Exchange.

Review of the business

2020 has been an unprecedented year in terms of economic uncertainty and volatility brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic. The economic challenges related to COVID-19 have not had a negative impact in
terms of late payments, impairments or similar adverse developments on the Bank’s credit loan portfolio or
the Property Companies’ tenants. However, business development was hindered during the year due to the
restrictions on travel and other disruptions brought about by the pandemic, and the Group ended the year
with substantial amounts of liquidity.

The combination of geopolitical uncertainty and the disruption of certain international supply chains
brought about by the COVID-19 crisis caused us to maintain a prudent and cautious approach during the
first half of the year with respect to expansion of merchant banking activities and credit loan portfolio
development.
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Directors’ report - continued
Review of the business - continued

During the second half of the year, the Group managed tc achieve its targets with additional merchant
banking transactions which expanded the balance shest. From an operating income level, the COVID-19
pandemic limited the Group’s ability to capitalise on certain potential merchant banking opportunities,
resulting in a decrease in operating profits compared to 2019.

Profit after tax for the year for the Company amounted to €628,812 (2019: loss after tax of €10,631),
whilst the Group achieved a profit after tax of €129,160 (2019: €2,916,350). The profits of the Group in
2019 included a revaluation of the Property Companies’ real estate €2,069,000, while the profits of the
Group In 2020 mainly emanated from the inclusion of the financial results of the Property Companies as
well as Merkanti Diesel Limited, which was incorporated in December 2019. The profit contribution from
the Bank for the year was approximately €140,000. During the year the Company made the first full
annual coupon payment to the bond holders €1,000,000 (2019 €358,688).

Total assets for the Company and the Group stood at €82,279,097 and €89,145,008 respectively (2019:
€77,617,080 and €90,964,466).

The Bank is a credit institution licensed by the MFSA under the Banking Act (Chapter 371 of the laws of
Malta), in accordance with the credit institution licence granted by the Malta Financial Services Authority.
The Bank does not engage in general retail banking, but provides speciality banking services, focused on
merchant banking, to customers and group members located in both domestic and non-domestic markets.

The Property Companies are property holding companies that operate in the industrial real estate leasing
sector in Germany, together holding assets recently valued at €49.1 million, yielding a combined rental
income of approximately €2.1 million per annum. The Property Companies were acquired in 2018 in order
to consolidate the Group's income-generating asset base. The acquisition consisted of a share purchase
representing 85% of the nominal value of the share capital of the Property Companies. In 2019, the
Company increased its position to a total shareholding of 94.9%. Further information on the acquisition is
disclosed under Note 9 of the Financial Statements. In 2020, Merkanti Holding acquired Altmark
Immobilien Management GmbH (A.l.M.) for a net book value (€161,940). A.l.M. provides management
services for the two Property Companies.

The real estate owned by the Property Companies is currently leased out to a number of tenants. Lease
agreements in place between the Property Companies and the respective tenants are either open-ended
indefinite term contracts or definite term contracts (with a number of definite term rental agreements
catering for the automatic renewal of the lease, and with renewal periods ranging from one to six years).

In most cases the lessee has the option to terminate the contract by giving written notice a number of
months prior the expiration of the contract, which notice period ranges between 3 to 18 months. For the
year ending 31 December 2020, 86% (2019: 95%) of the combined rental income of €2.1 million (2019:
€2.2 million) was generated from areas leased out to third party tenants, with the remaining 14% (2019:
5%) generated from leases to related parties.

The impact from the Covid-19 pandemic on the Property Companies for the year under review has been
minimal with only one tenant requesting financial assistance. As at the date of this report the situation
remains unchanged with tenants continuing to make payments on time.

On 16 December 2019, Merkanti Diese! Ltd was incorporated, as a fully owned subsidiary of Merkanti
Holding p.l.c. To date, Merkanti Diesel has financed various legal claims in Germany.




Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Directors’ report - continued
Review of the business - continued

In 2020, Merkanti Holding p.l.c. acquired 100% of the shareholding of MFCR Oriental S.A. ("MFCR") for
net book value (approximately €50,801), MFCR is a Uruguay registered Company with its principal
business being the origination of merchant banking and trade finance opportunities for Merkanti Bank Ltd,,
and the Merkanti Group, sourcing within South America and Asia.

As from the end of the second quarter of 2021, the ability to include tier 2 capital in the Bank's large
exposure limits will be restricted with the introduction of the amendments to the Capital Requirement
Regulations (known as CRR Il}). One of the uses of proceeds from the bond issuance in 2019 was to
advance a subordinated loan to the Bank which would be included as Tier 2 capital in the Bank’s own
funds and thus increase the large exposure limits for each customer or groups of connected customers.
Due to the changes that were published in the CRR I, the Group is considering potential ways to amend
the funding structure to reflect the original intentions of the subordinated loan, including and subject to
regulatory approval, converting this amount to additional deposits to place cash coilateral for risk
exposures, or to convert this subordinated foan into additional tier 1 capital. No decisions or timeline has
yet taken place in this regard.

Principal risks and uncertainties

A weakening of the global economy, including capital and credit markets, could adversely affect the
Group's business and financial results and have a material adverse effect on its liquidity and capital
resources.

The Group’s business, by its nature, does not produce predictable earnings and it may be materially
affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions generally. As demand for
the Group’'s products and merchant banking services has historically been determined by general global
macro-economic activities, demand and prices for the Group’s products and services have historically
decreased substantially during economic slowdowns. A significant economic downturn may affect sales
and profitability and may adversely affect suppliers and customers. Depending on their severity and
duration, the effects and consequences of a global economic downturn could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s liquidity and capital resources, including the Group's ability to raise capital, if
needed, and otherwise negatively impact our business and financial results.

The Group is subject to global economic, market and business risks with respect to the current COVID 19
Pandemic.

The pandemic is now established globally, however, the final duration and effects are currently uncertain.
The Group expects that this pandemic, and any future epidemic or pandemic crises, could result in direct
and indirect adverse effects on the industries and geographies in which it operates.

The pandemic is expacted to have a negative impact on global, regional and national economies and to
disrupt supply chains and otherwise reduce international trade and husiness activity. This may in turn
reduce the level of activity in which certain of the Group’s businesses operate and have a negative impact
on such businesses’ ability to generate revenues or profits. If the pandemic is prolonged, this could
amplify the current negative demand and supply chain effects as well as the negative impact on global
growth and global financial markets.

Although disruption and effects of the COVID 19 pandemic may be temperary, given the dynamic nature
of these circumstances and the worldwide nature of the Group’s business and operations, the duration of
any business disruption and the related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time but
could materially affect the Group's businesses, results of operations and financial condition.
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Directors’ report - continued
Principal risks and uncertainties - continued
The Group is subject to strategic and business risk.

Improper strategic choices or the actual implementation of strategic decisions, as well as lack of
responsiveness to changes in the economic environment, can have a serious and significant impact on
prospective financial results.

As the Group is engaged in German property business, this risk category Is intimately connected with the
overall performance of the global and German economy. In addition, the Group is engaged in the trade
finance and merchant banking business, which Is intimately connected with the level of cross-border trade
between countries and in markets that are typically in the developing stages of their economic
development and political stability.

The Group may increase ifs debt in the future.

The Group may continue to fund its operations and future growth by incurring additional debt. A
substantial deterioration in operating cash flows and profitability could make it difficult for the Group to
service interest payments and principal repayments on its borrowings. The Group could be at risk of
default on the occurrence of certain unexpected events. Any failure to satisfy debt obligations could result
in a default under the terms of current and future financing arrangements.

The Group's bank subsidiary is subject fo regulatory risk.

Merkanti Bank is subject to a number of prudential and regulatory controls, including but not limited to
CRD 1V, CRR and BRRD, that are designed to maintain the safety and soundness of banks, ensure their
compliance with economic and other objectives and limit their exposure to risk. Merkanti Bank therefore
faces risks associated with an uncertain and rapidly evolving prudential regulatory environment pursuant
to which it is required, amongst other things, to maintain adequate capital resources and capital ratios at
all times. Any legislative or regulatory actions and any resulting changes required to be made to Merkanti
Bank’s operations could adversely affect its business.

Merchant banking as a business is competitive, volatile and subject to various risks.

Merkanti Bank’s merchant banking business could experience significant periodic variations in revenues
and results of operations in the future, The merchant banking business is also highly competitive and
certain competitors have substantially greater capital and resources, including access to supply, than
Merkanti Bank. If Merkanti Bank is unable to compete effectively, its business and results of operations
will be adversely affected

The Group is subject to systematic risk in the global financial system.

The Group is exposed to systemic risk caused by the pandemic, which eventually resulted in a recession
effecting corporations and financial instructions worldwide, Due to the high level of interdependence
between financial institutions, Merkanti Bank is and will continue to be subject to the risk of deterioration
of the (actual or perceived) commercial and financial soundness of other financial services institutions,
which is also often referred to as systemic risk. Even the perceived lack of creditworthiness of about a
single counterparty may lead to market wide [iquidity problems and losses or defaults by other institutions,
including Merkanti Bank.
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Directors’ report - continued
Principal risks and uncertainties - continued
The Group is exposed to litigation risks in its business that are often difficult to assess or quantify.

The Group is exposed to various forms of legal risk arising from its trade finance, merchant banking and
other activities. Legal risks arise from the possibility that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits, or adverse
judgements can disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or condition of the Group. The Group
carries on business in various parts of the world and under different legal systems.

The Group is particularly susceptible to legal risks when entering into structured transactions in emerging
markets, where its legal rights might be susceptible to non-enforcement because of uncertainties of the
local legal and judicial system.

The Group Is exposed fo the industrial real estate and property market in Germany.

The industrial real estate market in Germany is, among other things, affected by shifts in demand and
supply, changes in general economic conditions, changing supply within a particular area of competing
space and attractiveness of real estate relative to other investment choices. Changes in regulatory
requirements and applicable laws (such as taxation and planning permits), political conditions, conditions
of the financial markets, inflation, interest rate fluctuations, the availability of financing, yields of alternative
investments and other factors may also have an adverse effect on the property market and, in turn, the
capital values and income streams of the Group.

Future business developments

The Group expects to continue to grow its balance sheet and is considering various alternatives to add
leverage to support the future growth plans of the Bank, the Property Companies, and its other subsidiaries

During 2021, the Bank’s main business strategy will continue to focus on merchant banking (including
specialised lending) activities related to corporate banking business with the objective of improving fee
related income and also enhance its asset allocation structure with related loan and treasury business.
The Bank is also planning to upgrade internal operational systems in order to handle the expected
increase in business development momentum throughout 2021.

In addition, the Group is considering various strategic transactions to further expand its product profile and
geographical scope, while at the same time maintaining a strong liquidity profile to be able to capitalize on
any opportunities which may arise,

Risk management

The Group faces a range of business, financial and operaticnal risks. The Group adopts a robust
corporate governance framework with a risk management approach to understand what its risks are, how
much risk is acceptable, and to be able to manage it to create value for shareholders while meeting
regulatory requirements ensuring integrity, ethical and transparent behaviour.

At a strateglc level, the Group’s financial risk management objectives are:

i. toensure appropriate identification of the Group’s significant risks;
iil. toensure that the Group’s plans are consistent with its risk appetite;
fi. to optimise risk/return decisions by taking them as closely as possible to the business, while
establishing strong and independent review and challenge structures; and
iv. to help the Group's Management improve the control and co-ordination of risk taking across the
business.
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Directors’ report - continued
Risk management - continued

A detailed review of the Group’s use of financial instruments, its exposure to liquidity risk, credit risk and
market risk, and the respective financial risk management objectives and policies is included in Note 2 to
the financial statements.

Results and dividends

The income statement is set out on page 25. No dividend is being recommended by the Board. The
accumulated retained earned of the Group amounting to €1,321,222 will be carried forward to the next financial
year.

Directors
The directors of the Company who held office during the year were:

Samuel Morrow

Mario P Galea (Chairman)

Benjamin Muscat

Silkke Stenger

Martin Ware {appointed with effect from 11 November 2020)

In accordance with the Company's articles of association, directors are appointed during the Company’s
annual general meeting until the next following annual general meeting (unless elected for a longer or
shorter period or unless they resign or are removed), at the end of which term they may stand again for
re-election. No election may be made for a period exceeding three (3) years. The Articles of Association
of the Company clearly set out the procedures to be followed in the appointment of directors.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are required by the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.386} to prepare financial statements which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Parent Company as at the end of each
reporting period and of the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for:

» ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances;

¢ ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Parent Company will continue in business
as a going concern.

Material contracts

Other than the contracts specified for and within the Company's prospectus dated July 18, 2019, for the
issuance of €25 million of 4% seven year sacured bonds, there are no material contracts outstanding.
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Directors’ report - continued
Going concern

The Directors, as required by Listing Rule 5.62, have considered the Company’s operational performance,
the statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2020 as well as the business plans for the coming
year, and that they have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their re-
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ report - continued
Statement of Responsibility pursuant to the Listing rules issued by the Listing Authority

The Board declares that to the best of their knowledge, the financial statements included in the Annual
Report are prepared in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, and that this director's report
includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and position of the Company,
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board on 29 April 2021 by:

e

" Mario Galea Martin Ware
Chairman Director

Registered office

Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Aragon House Business Centre
Dragonara Road

St Julian’s, STJ 2140

Malta

29 April 2021
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Statement of Compliance with Corporate Governance Code

The Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority of the Malta Financial Services Authority, require listed
companies to observe The Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the “Code”). Although the
adoption of the Code is not obligatory, companies with securlties that are listed on a ‘regulated market’
{(and that are subject to the Listing Rules and the Code) are required to include, among other things, in
their annual report, a corporate governance statement and a statement by the directors on a company's
compliance with the Code, accompanied by a report of the auditors thereon. Companies that do not have
any listed equity securities, including Merkanti Holding p.l.c. (the “Company”), are exempt from certain
requirements relating to the contents of this corporate governance statement.

Compliance

The Company's Board of Directors (the “Board”) believes in the principles espoused by and the adoption
of the Code and the Company has endorsed them to the extent that they are considered complementary
to the size, nature, and operations of the Company. In particular, the Board believes that, due to the
Company's size, operations and particular circumstances — including the fact that it is @ holding and
finance company and does not have any employees or officers other than the Directors and the company
secretary — it is not necessary for the Board to establish the remuneration, nomination and board
performance evaluation committees (and the related supporting principles and Code Provisions) that are
suggested in the Code, and that the function of these committees can efficiently be undertaken by the
board itself as necessary. It should also be noted that the Board’s performance is subject to ongoing
evaluation and scrutiny of the Board itself (the majority of which is composed by independent non-
executive Directors), the Company's shareholder and the market. The shareholders approve the
remuneration paid to the directors at the annual general meeting.

The Board

The Board is responsible for devising a strategy, setting policies and the management of the Company. it
is also responsible for reviewing internal control procedures, financial performance and business risks
facing the Company. The Board is also responsible for ensuring that its operations are in conformity with
all relevant rules and regulations. Directors meet regularly, mainly to review the operational and financial
performance of the Company, any significant matters arising, and to review internal control processes.
Board members are notified of forthcoming meetings by the Company Secretary with the issue of an
agenda and supporting documents, which are circulated in advance of the meeting. All the directors have
access to independent professional advice at the Company's expense should they so require and
frequently make use of this facility on various issues.

The Company has in place systems whereby the directors obtain timely information from the executive
management teams of its subsidiaries, not only at meetings of the Board but at regular intervais or when
the need arises.

The Board is currently composed of two executive and three independent non-executive directors, as
listed balow.

Mario P Galea (Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director)
Benjamin Muscat (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Silke Stenger (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Samuel Morrow {Executive Director)

Martin Ware (Executive Director)

The Company Secretary of the Company is Ganado Services Limited (C 10785)
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Statement of Compliance with Corporate Governance Code - continued
Internal Controls & Risk Management Systems in relation to Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls and risk
management systems that it deems necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for reviewing their effectiveness. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

In particular, systems and procedures are in place for the Company to control, report, monitor and assess
risks and their financial implications, and to take timely corrective actions where necessary, and for the
Board to be kept informed in a structured and systematic manner on the operational and financiai
performance of the Company. Regular financial budgets and strategic plans are prepared, and
performance against these plans is actively monitored and reported to the directors on a reguiar basis. All
financial information and forecasts are reviewed by multiple parties as well as the Board to ensure
acouracy.

The monitoring of these controls and systems has been delegated to the Audit Committee (as described
helow). The Board and Audit Commitiee are satisfied with the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal controls and risk management systems.

Audit Committee

The Board established an Audit Commitiee (the "Committee”} in 2019 to assist the Board in fulfilling its
supervisory and monitoring responsibilities. The Committee operates according to detailed terms of
reference established by the Board that reflect the requirements of the Listing Rules as well as current
good corporate governance best practices. These terms of reference establish its composition, role,
responsibilities and function, the parameters of its remit, as well as the basis for the processes that it is
required to comply with. The Committee, which is required to meet at least four times a year, is a sub-
committee of the Board and is directly responsible and accountable to the Board.

The primary purpose of the Committee is to assist the Directors in conducting their role effectively so that
the Company’s decision-making capability and the accuracy of its reporting and financial results are
maintained at a high level at all times. Among other responsibilities, the Committee is responsible for
monitoring the financial reporting process and monitoring of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and risk management systems in relation to the financial reporting of the Company.

The Audit Committee is composed entirely of independent non-executive Directors (each of which
satisfies the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules). All of the members of the Audit Committee
are designated as competent in auditing and/or accounting. Mario Galea has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Members of the Audit Commitiee are:
Mario Galea (Chairman)

Benjamin Muscat (Member)
Silke Stenger (Member)
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Statement of Compliance with Corporate Governance Code - continued
Remuneration Statement

In terms of the Company's Memorandum and Articles of Association, it is the shareholders of the Company
in the General Meeting who determine the maximum annual aggregate remuneration of the directors. The
directors received €110,500 in aggregate for services rendered during 2020 in their capacity as directors of
the company. No part of the remuneration paid to the directors is performance based. None of the directors,
in their capacity as a director of the Company, is entitled to profit sharing, share options or pension benefits.

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board on 29 April 2021 by:

Vot l:' 4 \\I\Q\/‘%V Dﬂ‘"{

Mario Galea Martin Ware
Chairman of the Board and Audit Committee Director
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion:

The Group financial statements and Parent Company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) give a true and fair view of the Group and the Parent Company’s financial position
of Merkanti Holding p.l.c. as at 31 December 2020, and of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU; and

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee.

What we have audited

Merkanti Holding p.l.c.’s financial statements, set out on pages 23 to 121 comprise:

the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020;

the Consolidated and Parent Company income statements and statements of comprehensive
income for the year then ended;

the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

11
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Independence

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements of the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in
terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the
parent company and its subsidiaries are in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in Malta
and that we have not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 18A of the
Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281).

The non-audit services that we have provided to the parent company and its subsidiaries, in the period
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, are disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

Our audit approach

Overview
e Overall group materiality: €888,200 which represents approximately
"~ 1% of total assets.

Materiality S S oy
e The Group is composed of 7 reporting units.
e The Group engagement team carried out the audit of the financial
s(g;;:':fg statements of the parent company as well as the audit of the financial

statements of all the subsidiaries of the company, except for 2 entities
for which specified procedures were performed on material account
balances.

Key audit

matiers e Valuation of the group’s investment property.

12
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where the
directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of
our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among
other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out
in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope
of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality €888,200

How we determined it Approximately 1% of total assets

Rationale for the We chose total assets as the benchmark because in our view it is
materiality benchmark an appropriate measure for the group.

applied We chose 1% which is within the range of materiality thresholds

that we consider acceptable.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during
our audit above €88,000 as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted
reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

Valuation of the group’s investment property

The group’s investment property portfolio, which
is fair valued on an annual basis in accordance
with the requirements of the Group’s accounting
policy, has a carrying amount of €32.6 million as
at 31 December 2020.

On an annual basis, the Company’s Board of
directors determines the fair value of the
investment property based on external valuations
performed by an independent property valuer
using appropriate valuation models comprising
the comparative value approach for the respective
land component and the capitalised income
approach for the respective buildings component.

The valuation reports are prepared in accordance
with the relevant German regulations, namely the
German Building Code (Baugesetzbuch, BauGB)
and ImmoWertV. ImmoWertV was published by
the German authorities, in order to provide a
detailed framework for the determination of
market values.

In view of the limited number of similar
comparable properties and property transactions,
comprising sales or rentals in the respective
markets in which the properties are located, the
valuations are carried out using unobservable
inputs.

Such unobservable inputs include the
capitalisation rate, the growth rate for
determining maintainable income, expected
service life, land and building specific adjustments
and the sales price per square metre specifically
for the purposes of the comparative value
approach.

How our audit addressed the Key audit
matter

As part of our audit we performed the following

procedures:

e We engaged our own in-house experts to
review the valuation approach adopted and
the underlying assumptions applied in the
property valuations in order to assess the
reasonableness of the estimated fair value for
the properties.

o  We evaluated the competence of the external
valuer, which included due consideration of
qualifications and expertise.

e We verified that the requirements underlying
the valuation regulations used for the
purposes of compiling valuation reports for
the group’s properties are consistent with the
parameters outlined by the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors’ (‘RICS’) Valuation,
Global Standards (2017), which are in line
with the requirements of IFRS 13, ‘Fair value
measurement’.

o  With respect to comparable land values, we
verified that adequate adjustments have been
applied to standard sales prices in view of the
lack of comparability within the land
classification.

e We confirmed that the market rates applied
in the valuation model to determine
maintainable income are consistent with the
average rental rates generated by the group
for the respective properties.

e We ensured that the capitalisation rates
applied by the valuer fall within benchmark
market averages attributable to the region of
the respective properties.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
Key audit matter

The valuation of the group’s investment property
is inherently subjective principally due to the
judgemental nature of the factors mentioned
above and the assumptions used in the underlying
valuation models. The significance of the
estimates and judgements involved warrants
specific audit focus in this area. In addition, this
vear, the risk of estimation uncertainty has been
exacerbated by the effects of COVID-19 on
property markets around the world.

Hence, the extent of judgement and the carrying
amount of investment property in the context of
the Company’s consolidated statement of financial
position resulted in this matter being identified as
an area of audit focus.

Relevant references in the Annual Report and
Financial Statements:

— Accounting policy: Note 1.8;

— Note on non-financial instruments measured
at fair value: Note 2.8; and

— Note on investment property: Note 10.

How our audit addressed the Key audit

matter

e  We assessed whether administration costs
are adequately considered, whether
maintenance expenses applied in the
valuation of the property reflect the age of the
property and any equipment in use, whether
rental failure costs are adequately taken into
account, and whether the remaining useful
life takes cognisance of the property location,
state of construction and possible future
economic environment.

e We also ensured that object-specific costs
such as costs of repairs, renovation and
preparation of exterior facilities, together
with marketing costs for vacancy periods, are
appropriately factored into the valuations.

e  We assessed the mathematical accuracy of
the calculations underlying each fair
valuation within the valuation reports.

As part of our work, we have taken cognisance of
the prevailing economic and market conditions
resulting from the uncertainty brought about by
the COVID-19 pandemic. In this respect, we have
considered the impact that any rental concessions
granted to tenants during the year may have had
on the reasonableness of the maintainable income
assumed within the valuation and critically
assessed the extent to which the effects of the
pandemic have impacted the capitalisation rate
which is determined on the basis of comparable
properties in the same geographical region.

Based on our work, we concluded that the group’s
property estimated fair values determined by the
independent valuer were within an acceptable
range of values.

We have no key audit matters to report with respect to our audit of the parent company financial

statements.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

How we tailored our group audit scope

The group is composed of 7 reporting units. We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform
sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into
account the structure of the group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industries in which
the group operates.

The group audit team performed all of this work by applying the overall group materiality, together
with additional procedures performed on the consolidation. This gave us sufficient appropriate audit
evidence for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Other information

The directors are responsibie for the other information. The other information comprises the
Directors’ report, and the Statement of Compliance with Corporate Governance Code (but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on other legal
and regulatory requirements.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act
(Cap. 386), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
erTor.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a gnarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s and the parent company’s internal control.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s or the parent company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, because not all future events or
conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group's or the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In particular, it is difficult to evaluate all of the
potential implications that COVID-19 will have on the group's and parent company’s trade,
customers and suppliers, and the disruption to its business and the overall economy.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2020 contains other areas required by
legislation or regulation on which we are required to report. The Directors are responsible for these other

areas.

The table below sets out these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related responsibilities and
reporting, in addition to our responsibilities and reporting reflected in the Other information section of
our report. Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided an audit opinion or any form of

assurance.

Area of the Annual
Report and
Consolidated
Financial Statements
2020 and the related
Directors’
responsibilities

Directors’ report
(on pages 1to 7)

The Maltese Companies
Act (Cap. 386) requires
the directors to prepare a
Directors’ report, which
includes the contents
required by Article 177 of
the Act and the Sixth
Schedule to the Act.

Our responsibilities

We are required to consider
whether the information given in
the Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial
statements.

We are also required to express an
opinion as to whether the
Directors’ report has been
prepared in accordance with the
applicable legal requirements.

In addition, we are required to
state whether, in the light of the
knowledge and understanding of
the Company and its environment
obtained in the course of our
audit, we have identified any
material misstatements in the
Directors’ report, and if so to give
an indication of the nature of any
such misstatements.

Our reporting

In our opinion:

o the information given in the
Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the
financial statements are
prepared is consistent with
the financial statements;
and

e the Directors’ report has
been prepared in
accordance with the
Maltese Companies Act
(Cap. 386).

We have nothing to report to
you in respect of the other
responsibilities, as explicitly
stated within the Other
information section.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - continued

Area of the Annual
Report and
Consolidated
Financial Statements
2020 and the related
Directors’
responsibilities

Statement of
Compliance with
Corporate Governance
Code

(on pages 8 to 10)

The Listing Rules issued by the
Malta Listing Authority
require the directors to
prepare and include in the
Annual Report a Statement of
Compliance with the Code of
Principles of Good Corporate
Governance within Appendix
5.1 to Chapter 5 of the Listing
Rules. The Statement’s
required minimum contents
are determined by reference to
Listing Rule 5.97. The
Statement provides
explanations as to how the
Company has complied with
the provisions of the Code,
presenting the extent to which
the Company has adopted the
Code and the effective
measures that the Board has
taken to ensure compliance
throughout the accounting
period with those Principles.

Our responsibilities

We are required to report on the
Statement of Compliance by
expressing an opinion as to whether,
in light of the knowledge and
understanding of the Company and its
environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have identified any
material misstatements with respect to
the information referred to in Listing
Rules 5.97.4 and 5.97.5, giving an
indication of the nature of any such
misstatements.

We are also required to assess whether
the Statement of Compliance includes
all the other information required to
be presented as per Listing Rule 5.97.

We are not required to, and we do not,
consider whether the Board’s
statements on internal control
included in the Statement of
Compliance cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s
corporate governance procedures or
its risk and control procedures.

Our reporting

In our opinion, the
Statement of Compliance
has been properly prepared
in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing
Rules issued by the Malta
Listing Authority.

We have nothing to report
to you in respect of the
other responsibilities, as
explicitly stated within the
Other information section.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - continued

Area of the Annual Our responsibilities Our reporting
Report and
Consolidated

Financial Statements
2020 and the related
Directors’

responsibilities
Other matters on which we are ‘We have nothing to report
required to report by exception to you in respect of these
We also have responsibilities under responsibilities.

the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386)
to report to you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have
not been kept, or returns adequate
for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited
by us.

e the financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting
records and returns.

¢ we have not received all the
information and explanations
which, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, we require
for our audit.

We also have responsibilities under
the Listing Rules to review the
statement made by the directors that
the business is a going concern
together with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary.

Other matter — use of this report

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Parent Company’s
shareholders as a body in accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and
for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior written consent.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Appointment

We were first appointed as auditors of the company on 22 August 2018. Our appointment has been
renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement
appointment of 3 years. The company became listed on a regulated market on 16 August 2019.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
78, Mill Street

Zone 5, Central Business District
Qormi

Malta

f P

Fabio Axisa
Partner

29 April 2021
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Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Statements of financial position

Group Company
As at 31 December
Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € €. €
ASSETS
Balances with Central Bank of Malta
and cash 4 12,371,996 10,407,301 - -
Loans and advances to banks and
other financial institutions 5 3,944,081 16,886,346 7,495,181 5,053,822
Loans and advances to customers 6 10,790,149 3,798,749 - -
Financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss 7 6,993,848 5,172,449 267,180 -
Financial assets measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive income 8 7,059,549 6,047,646 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 9 - - 50,582,087 50,369,346
Investment property 10 32,587,000 35,140,000 - -
Property, plant and equipment 11 316,933 229,715 97,306 120,854
Intangible assets 12 17,883 25,324 - -
Right-of-use assets 13 583,595 680,181 573,083 650,860
Other receivables 14 12,435,413 10,806,180 21,695,765 20,015,072
Deferred tax assets 15 368,649 - 49,428 -
Accrued income and other assets 16 1,675,912 1,769,575 1,519,067 1,407,126
Total assets 89,145,008 90,964,466 82,279,097 77,617,080
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Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
Annual Report and Consclidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Statements of financial position - continued

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes

Capital and reserves attributable

to owners of the parent
Share capital
Contribution reserve
Fair value reserve
Translation reserve
(Accumulated losses)/Retain
earnings

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Liabilities

Borrowings

Derivative liabilities

Lease liabilities

Amounts owed to customers

Deferred tax liabilities

Current tax liabilities

Other payables

Accrued expenses and other
liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 32 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

17
18
19

ed

20

21
22
13
23
15

24

25

Group Company
As at 31 December
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
50,020,000 50,000,000 50,020,000 50,000,000
2,540,000 2,540,000 2,540,000 2,540,000
90,027 50,335 - -
(9,599) - - -
(1,321,222) (1,423,652) 331,589 (297,223)
51,319,206 51,166,683 52,891,589 52,242,777
1,828,475 1,878,245 - -
53,147,681 53,044,928 52,891,589 52,242,777
24,380,571 24,287,159 27,980,571 24,287,159
368,149 64,952 368,149 -
623,768 683,141 612,036 652,664
6,985,729 10,216,459 - -
2,133,404 1,995,657 - -
383,161 - - -
582,704 178,605 62,334 101,147
539,841 493,665 364,418 333,333
35,997,327 37,919,538 29,387,508 25,374,303
89,145,008 90,964,466 82,279,097 77,617,080

The financial statements on pages 23 to 121 were authorised for issue by the board on 29 April 2021 and

were signed on its behalf by:
74 i

AL EL

Mario Galea
Chairman

\\L ¥ LJQ(

Martin Ware

Executive Director
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Merkanti Holding p.L.c.
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Income statements

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Rental income from investment
property

Changes in the fair value of
investment property

Realised gains on disposal of
investment properties

Net trading gains

Realised gains on disposal of
financial assets measured at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

Revenue from customer contracts

Dividend income

Other operating income

Total operating income

Cost of sales in respect of revenue
from customer contracts

Changes in expected credit losses

Net operating income
Administrative expenses

Profit/(loss) before tax
Tax (expense)fincome

Profit/(loss) for the year
Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The notes on pages 32 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

27
28

29
29

30
10

10
31

32
33
34

36
35

36

37

20

Group Company
Year ended 31 December
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
1,463,378 652,981 1,283,157 558,662
(1,239,951) (427,193} (1,183,148) (378,275)
223,427 225,788 100,009 180,387
758,211 2,222,486 11,150 404,180
(6,051) (1,653) - (147,800)
752,160 2,220,833 11,150 256,380
1,996,018 2,156,201 70,991 -
484,662 2,069,000 - -
126,584 - - -
777,250 749,411 556,386 -
45,666 8,958 - -
3,003,530 - - -
- - 1,423,500 -
531,114 104,813 498,287 -
7,940,711 7,535,004 2,660,323 436,767
(2,487,576) - - -
{58,374} {90,612) - -
5,394,761 7,444,392 2,660,323 436,767
{5,042,670) (4,123,727) (2,080,889) (446,198)
352,091 3,320,665 579,434 (9,431)
(222,931) (404,315) 49,378 (1,200)
129,160 2,916,350 628,812 {10,631)
102,430 2,595,373
26,730 320,977
129,160 2,916,350
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Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Statements of comprehensive income

Group Company
Year ended 31 December
Note 2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Profit/(loss) for the year 129,160 2,916,350 628,812 (10,631)

Other comprehensive income:
ltems that may be subsequently

reclassified to profit or loss
Translation differences (9,599) - - -
Fair valuation of financial assets

measured at fair value through

other comprehensive income
Net changes in fair value arising

during the year, before tax 8 85,358 {43,387) - -
Reclassification adjustments - net

amounts reclassified to profit or

loss, before tax 8 (45,666) (8,958) - -

Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax 30,093 (52,345) - -

Total comprehensive income
for the year 169,253 2,864,005- 628,812 (10,631)

Total comprehensive income

attributable to:
Owners of the parent 132,523 2,543,028
Non-controlling interests 20 26,730 320,977

159,253 2,864,005

The notes on pages 32 to 121 ars an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Merkanti Holding p.l.c.

Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Statements of changes in equity - continued

Company

Balance at 1 January 2019

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Balance at 31 December 2019

Balance at 1 January 2020

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners
Issue of ordinary shares

Balance at 31 December 2020

Accumulated

losses/

Share Contribution Retained
capital reserve earnings Total
€ € € €
50,000,000 2,540,000 (286,592) 52,253,408
- - (10,631) {(10,631)
50,000,000 2,540,000 (297,223) 52,242,777
50,000,000 2,540,000 (207,223) 52,242,777
- - 628,812 628,812
20,000 - - 20,000
50,020,000 2,540,000 331,589 52,891,589

The notes on pages 32 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statements of cash flows

Group

Interest, commission, rental and other income received
Cash receipts from customers

Interest and commission expense paid

Cash payments to employees and suppliers

Cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities before
changes in operating assets and liabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Net increase in loans and advances to customers

Increase in loans and advances to customers measured
at fair value through profit or loss

Increase in litigation funding assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss

Net increase in other receivables

Increase in Reserve deposit with Central Bank

Net decrease/(increase) in other assets

Net (decrease)fincrease in amounts owed to customers
Net increase/(decrease) in other payables

Net decrease in other liabilities

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of additional stakes in subsidiaries

Purchase of investments measured at fair value through profit or loss

Purchase of investments measured as at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Purchase of investments measured as at amortised cost

Proceeds from disposal of investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss '

Proceeds from disposal of investments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income

Proceeds from disposal of investments measured at
amortised cost

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash generated from/{used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings, net of issue cosls

Principal element of lease payments

Paid-up share capital during the year

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes

38

38

As at 31 December

2020 2019
€ £
3,837,581 4,657,987
2,633,878 -
(1,123,269) (70,141)
(6,325,472)  (4,264,440)
(977,282) 323,406
(7.047,944)  (1,234,843)
(792,600) -
(1,454,927) -
(758,825)  (5,128,710)
(53,969) (58,043)
62,850 (114,492)
(3,230,730) 6,497,507
2,076 (76,368)
(71,657) (74,511)
(14,323,008) 134,036
- (3,645,351)
(646,903)  (1,430,254)
(4,177,610)  (3,091,919)
- (1,110,425)
2,364,558 -
3,188,157 1,000,000
. 1,110,000
3,164,546 -
(200,447) (199,303)
3,692,301 (7,367,252)
- 24,261,804
(155,446) (60,595)
5,000 -
(150,446) 24,201,209
(10,781,153) 16,967,993
(251,940) (70,652)
27,242,743 10,345,402
16,209,650 27,242,743
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Statements of cash flows - continued

Company

Interest, commission, rental and other income received
Interest and commission expense paid

Dividends received

Cash payments to suppliers

Cash flows used in operating activities hefore
changes in operating assets and liabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Net increase in other receivables

Net decrease/(increase) in other assets
Net increase in other payables

Net increase/{decrease) in other liabilities

Net cash from/{used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Advances to subsidiaries

Acquisition of additional stakes in subsidiaries
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issue costs
Principal element of lease payments

Paid-up share capital during the year

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes

33

14
16
21,24
25

14

11

21
13
17

38

38

As at 31 December

2020 2019
€ €
630,975 137,000
(1,062,8901)  (167,387)
1,423,500 -
(1,876,402)  (641,808)
(884,818)  (672,195)
(260,732)  (769,984)
160,747 (56,152)
3,526,305 64,964
30,435 (2,159)
2,571,937  (1,435,526)
- {14,000,000)
- (3,645,351)
(1,189)  (123,440)
(1,189) (17,768,791)
- 24,261,804
(134,389) (3,665)
5,000
(129,389) 24,258,139
2,441,359 5,053,822
5,053,822 -
7,495,181 5,053,822

The notes on pages 32 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes fo the consolidated financial statements

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Merkanti Holding p.l.c
(“the Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (together referred to as “the Group”). These
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and with the requirements of the Companies Act
(Cap.386) and the Banking Act (Cap.371) enacted in Malta. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss including derivative financial instruments, financial
assets measured at fair vaiue through other comprehensive income, and investment property.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires directors to exercise their judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies (see Note 3 — Critical accounting estimates and
judgements).

Assessment of going concern assumplion

Having satisfied themselves on the financial position and performance of the Group, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group will continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.

In determining the appropriateness of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the
financial statements, the Directors have considered the impact that the COVID-19 outbreak has had
on the resulis of the Group, which predominantly slowed down the Group's generation of fee
income from merchant banking services. Nevertheless, during the second half of 2020, the Group
entered into a merchant banking agreement which should give rise to the Group recognising fee
income over the next 12 months in line with the levels recognised prior to 2020.

Accordingly, the Directors consider the going concern assumption in the preparation of the Group’s
financial statements as appropriate as at the date of authorisation for issue of these financial
statements.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2020

In 2020, the Group adopted amendments to existing standards that are mandatory for the Group's
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2020. The adoption of these revisions to the
requirements of [FRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in substantial changes to the Group's
accounting policies impacting the Group's financial performance and position.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.1 Basis of preparation - continued
Standards, interpretations and amendments fo published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations te existing standards have been published
by the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements, that are mandatory for the
Group's accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2020. The Group has not early adopted
these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the Group's Directors are
of the opinion that there are no requirements that will have possible significant impact on the
Group's financial statements in the pericd of initial application.

1.2 Consolidation
(a} Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consclidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree sither at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's
proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. The accounting policies of the
subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by
the cost method of accounting, i.e. at cost less impairment. Provisions are recorded where, in the
opinion of the directors, there Is an impairment in value. Where there has been an impairment in
the value of an investment, it is recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is
identified. The results of subsidiaries are reflected in the Company’s separate financial statements
only to the extent of dividends receivable. On disposal of an investment, the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit or loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.2 Consolidation - continued
(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests, where the acquisition or disposal of
partial interests in a subsidiary has no impact on the Group's ability to govern the subsidiary’s
financial and operating policies, as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases
from non-controliing interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.3 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financlal statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional
currency'). The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group's presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

(¢) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations of the Group (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follow:

+ assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

» income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

+ all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.4 Financial assets
1.4.1 Initial recognition and measurement

The Group recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Accordingly, the Group uses trade
date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus or minus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset, such as fees
and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss
allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in
debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit
or loss when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the
Group recognises the difference as follows:

« When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
{(i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable
markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.

* In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one
profit or loss is determined individuaily. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument,
deferred until the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or
realised through settlement.

1.4.2 Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

e Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);
e Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOC!); or
+ Amortised cost.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.4 Financial assets - continued

1.4.2 Classification and subsequent measurement - continued
Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the
issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables
purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse. Classification and subsequent
measurement of debt instruments depend on: (i) the Group's business modal for managing the
asset; and (ii} the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three
measurement categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVPL,
are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected
credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in Note 1.5. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in 'Interest and similar income' using the effective interest rate
method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOC!): Financial assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI!). Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument's amortised cost which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net
trading gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income'
using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or loss and presented in the profit or loss statement within 'Net trading
income' in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were designated
at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented separately in 'Net
trading gains/(losses)’. Debt instruments that contain contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are not consistent with a basic lending arrangement and thus fail the solely
payments of principal and interest test are ‘mandatorily’ measured at FVPL. Interest income from
these financial assets, including those that are mandatorily measured at FVPL, is included in
‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective interest rate method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.4 Financial assets - continued

1.4.2 Classification and subsequent measurement — continued
Debt instruments - continued

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation (using
the effective interest method) of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount
and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its
amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiurns
or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such
as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired ('"POCI') financial assets - assets
that are credit-impaired at initial recognition - the Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective
interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its
gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future
cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective
financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the
original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period
following the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during
the period.

(a) Business model assessment

Key management personnel determine the Group’s business model by considering the way
financial instruments are managed in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group's
objective is solely to collect the confractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the
contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are
classified as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL. Such assessment is performed
at a ‘portfoiio level' as it best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided
to management.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.4 Financial assets - continued

1.4.2 Classification and subsequent measurement — continued
Debt instruments - continued

The information that will be considered in such assessment includes:

« the objectives for the portfolio including whether management's strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the
duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets
or realising cash flows through the sale of assets,

+ the method for the evaluation of the performance of the portfolio and how such performance
is reported to the Group’s management;

+ the risks that affect the performance of the business model {and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed; and

« the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Debt securities that are held for trading and those that are managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis will be measured at FVPL because they are neither held to collect
contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
Securities held for trading are held principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or are part
of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Such debt securities are disclosed within these
financial statements as ‘Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss’.

(b) Cash flows that represent solely payment of principal and interest (SPF)

In respect of assets where the intention of the business model is to hold the financial assets to
collect the contractual cash flows or to hold to collect and to sgll, the Group assesses whether the
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI
test’). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are
consistent with a basic lending agreement. ‘Principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset at initial
recognition. It is not the amount that is due under the contractual terms of an instrument. ‘Interest’ is
the compensation for time value of money and credit risk of a basic lending-type return. A basic
lending-type return could also include consideration for other basic lending risks (for example,
liquidity risk) and consideration for costs associated with holding the financial asset for a particular
period of time (for example, servicing or administrative costs) andfor a profit margin. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure fo risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.4 Financial assets - continued

1.4.2 Classification and subsequent measurement - continued
Debt instruments - continued

Unlike the business model assessment, the SPPI assessment is performed for each individual
product or portfalic of products. The following considerations are made when assessing
consistency with SPPI:

» contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows such as contractual
term resetting interest to a higher amount in the event of 2 missed payment;

+ leverage features, being contractual cash flow characteristics that increase the variability of
the contractual cash flows with the result that they do not have economic characteristics of
interest;

o contractual terms that allow the issuer to prepay (or the holder to put a debt instrument back to
the Issuer) before maturity and whether the prepayment amount substantially represents
unpaid amounts of principal and interest, which may include reasonable compensation for
early termination of the contract;

« contractual terms that allow the issuer or holder to extend the contractual terrm and the terms
of the extension option resuit in contractual cash flows during the extension pericd that are
solely payments of principal and interest, which may include reascnable compensation for the
extension of the contract; and

» features that modify consideration for the time value of money (for example, periodic reset of
interest rates).

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are consider-ed in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective,
that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual
interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except
where the Group's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group's policy is to
designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than
to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are
recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. .

Impairment losses {(and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, are recognised
in proflt or loss as other Income when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in the 'Net trading income’ line in the
income statement.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.5 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses ('ECLS’) associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Group recognises a loss allowances for
such losses af each reporting date. The measurement of ECLs reflects:

i. an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes;

ii. the time value of money; and

ili. reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Note 2.2.3 provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.
Expected credit loss allowances are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

« financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of
the assets;

s loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;

« financial instrument with both a drawn and undrawn component, whereby the Group cannot
identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn
component: the Group presents a combined loss allowance for both components, as a
deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component; and

e debt instruments measured at FYOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of
financial position against the carrying amount of the asset because the carrying amount of these
assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair
value reserve, i.e. presented within other comprehensive income.

1.6 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.7 Derivative financial instruments
The Group deploys no hedging strategies that achieve hedge accounting in terms of IFRS 9.

Derivative financial instruments, including currency forward swaps, are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative coniract is entered into, and are subsequently re-measured
at their fair value. Fair values for currency swaps are determined using forward exchange market
rates at the end of the reporting period. Discounting techniques, reflecting the fact that the
respective exchange or settlement will not occur until a future date, are used when the time value of
money has a significant effect on the fair valuation of these instruments.

The Group principally uses currency swaps as a hedge of foreign exchange risk thereby entering
into commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. These derivative transactions
provide effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.7 Derivative financial instruments - continued

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting
are recognised immediately in profit or i0ss under ‘Net trading gains/(lossesy.

1.8 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising freehold office buildings, is held for long-term rental
yields or for capital appreclation or both and is not occupied by the Group. Investment property
also includes property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property,
when such identification is made.

Investment property is measured initially at its historical cost, including related transaction costs
and borrowing costs. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or
constructing a qualifying investment property are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are
capitalised while acquisition or construction is actively underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is ceased once the asset is substantially complete and is suspended if the development of the
asset is suspended. After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined annually. Fair value is based on active market prices,
adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If
the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices
on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections.

These valuations are reviewed annually by professional valuers. Investment property that is being
redeveloped for continuing use as investment property or for which the market has become less
active continues to be measured at fair value. Fair value measurement on property under -
construction is only applied if the fair value is considered to be reliably measurable. The fair value
of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and
assumptions about rental income from future leases in the light of current market conditions.

The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect
of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred. When part of an investment property is
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditure that will improve or
enhance the property and does not reflect the related future benefits from this future expenditure
other than those a rational market participant would take into account when determining the value
of the property.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss. Investment properties are derecognised
either when they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.
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1.8 Investment property - continued

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and
equipment. lts fair value at the date of the reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent
accounting purposes. When the Group decides to dispose of an investment property without
development, the Group continues to treat the property as an investment property. Similarly, if the
Group begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued future use as investment
property, it remains an investment property during the redevelopment.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has
changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the
date of iransfer is treated in the same way as a revaluation under IAS 16. Any resulting increase in
the carrying amount of the property is recegnised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a
previous impairment loss; with any remaining increase recognised in other comprehensive income,
directly to revaluation surplus within equity. Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is initially charged to other comprehensive income against any previously recognised
revaluation surplus, with any remaining decrease charged to profit or less. Upon the disposal of
such investment property, any surplus previcusly recorded in equity is transferred to retained
earnings; the transfer is not made through profit or loss.

Where an investment property undergoes a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
development with a view to sale, the property is transferred to inventories. A property’s deemed
cost for subsequent accounting as inventories is its fair value at the date of change in use.

1.9 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
itemn will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
%

Computer equipment 25
Office improvements and equipment 10-25
Others 25

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in profit or loss.
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1.10 Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acqguire
and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives
of three to five years. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are
recognised as an expense as incurred.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique
software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assefs when the following
criteria are met;

it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

management intends to complete the software product and use it;

there is an ability to use the software product;

it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic

benefits;

+ adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use
the software product are available; and

* the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably

measured.

At the end of each reporting period, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or
changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are
analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable (Note 1.11).

1.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowsst levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). The impairment test can also be
performed on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell or the value in use can he
determined reliably.

1.12 Other receivables

Other receivables comprise amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less {or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment (Note 1.5). The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for other receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against profit or loss.
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1.13 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill;
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilittes and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

1.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

1.15 Financial liabilities

1.15.1 Initial recognition and measurement

The Group recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, net
of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial
liability.
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1.15 Financial liabilities - continued

1.15.2 Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

+ financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives,
financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading booking) and other
financial liabilittes designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other
comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that
is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk} and partially
profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the lfability). This is unless
such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the
gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in
profit or loss; and

« financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments (see Note 1.17).

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise principally amounts owed to banks,
amounts owed to customers, debt securities in issue together with other liabilities.

1.15.3 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the confract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires.

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially
different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using
the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.

In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in,
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change
in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of
the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are
amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.
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1.16 Other payables

Other payables comprise obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

1.17 Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are issued by the
Group to financial institutions and other entities on behalf of customers to secure micro-loans and
other credit related products.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at
higher of:

s the amount of the loss allowance (calculated as described in Note 1.5); and

» the premium received on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the
principles of IFRS 15,

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognised as a
provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the
Group cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment
compenent from those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the undrawn
commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the
combined expected cradit losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit
losses are recognised as a provision (Note 35).

1.18 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the entity; or (b) a present obligation that arises from past events but
is not recognised because: (i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or (il) the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliabllity. Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed unless
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

46




Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.19 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial Instruments are recognised within
‘Interest and similar income’ and ‘Interest and similar expense’ in the profit or loss using the
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or a financial lfability and of allocating the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums
or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate,
such as originaticn fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired ('POC!") financial assets -
assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition - the Group calculates the credit-adjusted
effective Interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead
of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated
future cash flows.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
financial assets, except for:

» POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost of the financial asset;

» financial assets that are not 'POCI' but have subsequently become credit-impaired (or 'stage
3"), for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their
amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision).

1.20 Fee and commission income and expense

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a
financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees and investment management
fees are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. For fixed-price
contracts, revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting
period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because the customer receives and uses
the benefits simultanecusly.

Where the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price will be allocated
to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not
directly observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances
change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit
or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rfse to the revision become known by
management.

In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the fixed amount based on a payment schedule.
If the services rendered exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the payments
exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.
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1.21 Rental income
Rental income from investment property

Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

1.22 Sales of goods and services

Revenue from customer contracts comprises the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown
net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts.

Revenues are recognised in accordance with the provision of goods or services, provided that
collectability of the consideration is probabie.

IFRS 15 requires that at contract inception the goods or services promised in a contract with a
customer are assessed and each promise fo transfer to the customer the good or service is
identified as a performance obligation. Promises in a contract can be explicit or implicit if the
promises create a valid expectation to provide a good or service based on the customary business
practices, published policies, or specific statements.

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from customer invoicing. Trade receivables presented
in the statement of financial position represent an unconditional right to receive consideration
(primarily cash), i.e. the services and goods promised to the customer have been transferred.

By contrast, contract assets mainly refer to amounts allocated per IFRS 15 as compensation for
goods or services provided to customers for which the right to collect payment is subject to
providing other services or goods under that same contract. Contract assets, like trade receivables,
are subject to impairment for credit risk. The recoverability of contract assets is also verified,
especially to cover the risk of impairment should the contract be interrupted.

Contract liabilities represent amounts paid by customers before receiving the goods andfor services
promised in the contract. This is fypically the case for advances received from customers or
amounts invoiced and paid for goods or services not transferred yet, such as contracts payable in
advance or prepaid packages (previously recognised in deferred income).
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1.22 Sales of goods - continued

The Group measures revenue on a basis that reflects the amount of consideration that it expects to
be entitled to; this measurement of revenue is however limited to amounts to which the Group has
enforceable rights, and it excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation, which occurs when it
transfers control of a promised good or service to a customer. Control of a promised good or
service is transferred to a customer when the customer is able to direct the use of the promised
good or service. A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time unless it meets certain
criteria that indicate that it is satisfied over time.

Management has determined that none of the Group’s contracts with customers contain a
significant financing component as the period between the recognition of revenue and the payment
due date is of less than one year.

1.23 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

1.24 Other operating income

Other operating income is recognised on an accrual basis unless collectibility is in doubt.
1.25 Leases
The Group is the lessee

The Group has lease agreements in place related to the leases of property used as office space
and computer hardware. At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract is or
contains a lease and hence conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. For leases of property, the Group has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease liabilities arising from such contracts are measured at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate that the Group
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary fo obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions. Lease payments to be made under
reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

Lease payments are allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant period rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

The Group measures the associated right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability at
the date at which the leased asset is made available for use. The right-of-use assets are
subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.

The Group elects not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low value leases or
leases with a term shorter than 12 months. Lease payments relating to these leases are expensed
to profit or [oss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1.26 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value less
expected credit loss allowances. In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks.

1.27 Segment reporting

The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is
provided to the Board of Directors of the parent company, which is the Group’s chief operating
decision-maker in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8, Operating Segments.

An operating segment is a companent of the Group that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions
with any of the Group's other components, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Financial risk management
2.1 Introduction

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and these activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.
The Group's aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise
potential adverse effects on the entity's financial performance. .

The Board of directors oversees credit, market, funding and liquidity, operational and strategic
business risks. The Group has developed an integrated risk management framework to identify,
assess, manage and report risks and risk adjusted returns.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse risks, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and
up-to-date information systems. The Board is responsible for the overall effectiveness of the risk
management function, which function is however carried out by all the members of the Group’s
management.

The Group'’s treasury function is responsible for managing assets, liabilities and the overall financial
position and is also responsible for the management of funding and liquidity risks. The Group’s risk
oversight function has the overall responsibility for the development of the entity's risk strategy and
the implementation of risk principles, framework, policies and related limits.

2.2 Credit Risk
2.2.1 Introduction

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a
financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is the most important
risk for the Group’s business; accordingly, management carefully manages its exposure to this risk.
Credit exposures arise principally through the Group’s participation in credit loan and receivables
transactions, mainly with Scully Royalty Limited or entities within the Scully Royalty group, through
the Group's transactions with correspondent banks, and through its investments in debt securities
and other exposures arising from its investing activities.
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2.2 Credit Risk - continued
2.2.1 Introduction - continued

The current financial year has been characterised by unprecedented economic conditions as a
result of the COVID-19 outbreak. COVID-19 has severely impacted local economies around the
world with measures taken to contain the spread of the virus triggering significant disruptions to
businesses worldwide and leading to a global economic slowdown, resulting in a general
heightened level of credit risk.

In contrelling and mitigating the atfributed heightened level of credit risk from the outbreak, the
Group assessed its credit exposure from loans and advances to customers as well as its
receivables from related parties on a name by name basis to determine any credit deterioration
within its portfolio. As at 31 December 2020, credit risk from 95.88% of the Group's loans and
advances to customers and other receivables is attributable to Scully Royalty Ltd or entities within
the Scully Royalty group, while 4.12% is attributable to third parties.

As at 31 December 2020, the Scully Royalty group had not been adversely affected by the
pandemic. Moreover, the third parties to which the Group is exposed have displayed a continued
ramp-up in business during 2020 when compared to both 2018 and 2019, and accordingly, did not
display any signs of increased credit risk since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. In
addition, as at 31 December 2020, 27.15% of the Group's receivables from third parties are
secured by term deposits placed with the Group.

As an indirect impact of COVID-19 on financial markets, the Group incurred fair value losses
amounting to €94,560 in respect of a debt securities portfolio that was held principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term, and accordingly designated at fair value through profit or loss.
These losses were primarily registered during Q1 of 2020, and are recorded in profit or loss within
‘Net trading gains’.

2.2.2 Credit risk measurement

The measurement of credit exposure for risk management purposes considers that an exposure
varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The
assessment of credit risk of a portfolic of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of
defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between counterparties.
The Group measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and
Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the approach used for the purposes of measuring
Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9. Refer to Note 2.2.3 for more details.

The Group’s financial assets primarily comprise the following three portfolios upon which credit risk
is assessed: investments in debt securities, loans and advances to banks and other financial
institutions and loans and advances to/receivables from related parties. Where published ratings
are issued by external rating agencies, such as Standard & Poor's, Fitch and Moody's, mainly in
respect of issuers of debt securities and other companies, the Group refers to such ratings to
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2.2.2 Credit risk measurement - continued

determine the probability of default of individual counterparties. These published grades are
continuously monitored and updated. Where published ratings are not available, a credit risk
modelling solution, developed by an external vendor, is used to determine implied credit ratings.
Implied credit ratings are determined on the basis of exposure-specific characteristics, including
financial performance and qualitative characteristics captured through a scorecard. The implied
ratings are calibrated with the rating scales as defined by the recognised external rating agencies,
which in turn allow for the determination of the probability of default atiributable to each individual
unrated counterparty.

In determining the probability of default of individual counterparties, the Group distinguishes
between exposures considered ‘investment-grade’ defined by recognized external rating agencies
as a rating between AAA to BBB- (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) and Aaa to Baa3 (Moody's), and ‘non-
investment grade’ exposures.

2.2.3 Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS @ outlines a 'three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as summarised below:

i. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 'Stage
1' and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group.

ii. If a significant increase in credit risk ("SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the
financial instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit - impaired.
Please refer to Note 2.2.3.1 for a description of how the Group determines when a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

iil. If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to
'Stage 3'. Please refer to Note 2.2.3.2 for a description of how the Group defines credit-
impaired and default,

iv. Financial instruments in ‘Stage 1' have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the
next 12 months. Instruments in ‘Stage 2' or ‘Stage 3’ have their ECL measured based on
expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to Note 2.2.3.3 for a description of
inputs, assumptions and estimation technigues used in measuring the ECL.

v. A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider
forward looking information. Note 2.2.3.4 includes an explanation of how the Group has
incorporated this in its ECL models.

vi.  Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis
(‘Stage 3').

The expected credit loss requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost and
FVOCI, and certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. At initial recognition, an
impairment allowance {or provision in the case of commitments and guarantees) is required for ECL
resulting from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (“12-month ECL”). In the
event of a significant increase in credit risk, an allowance (or provision) is required for ECL resulting
from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument (“lifetime ECL”).
Financial assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are considered ‘stage 1'. Financial assets
which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk would be classified as
'stage 2’ and financial assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment, thus considered
to be in default or otherwise credit-impaired, would be classified as ‘stage 3'.
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2.2.3 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

The Group recognises loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for debt securities
measured at amortised cost and FVOCI and counterparty banks that are determined to have low
credit rigk at the reporting date. The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when it
is considered ‘investment-grade’, defined by recognised external rating agencies as ‘a rating
between AAA to BBB- (Standard & Poor’s and Fitch) and Aaa-Baa3 (Moody’s).

The foliowing diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9@ (other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

v

F 3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

{Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit (Credit-impaired financial
risk since initial recognition) assets)

12-month expected credit Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit
losses losses

2.2.3.1 Significant increase in credit risk

The Group's assessment o determine the extent of increase in credit risk of a financial instrument
since initial recognition is performed by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over
the remaining life of the financial instrument,

To determine whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative
information. Such analysis is based on the Group's historical experience, credit assessment and
forward-locking information. A backstop is applied and the financial instrument considered to have
experienced a significant increase in credit risk if the counterparty is more than 30 days past due on
its contractual repayments.

In the case of certain of its portfolios of financial assets (specifically loans and advances to banks
and investmants in debt securities), the Group applies the low credit risk simplification to all its
exposures considered ‘investment-grade’, thus they are not subject to the SICR assessment.
Moving from ‘investment-grade’ to ‘non-investment grade’ does not automatically mean that there
has been a SICR.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.3 Expected credit loss measurement - continued
2.2.3.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Group applies the definition of default in a consistent manner with internal credit risk
management practices for the relevant instruments and the definition considers qualitative and
quantitative factors where appropriate. The Group defines a financial instrument as in default,
which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of the criteria
below.

The Group determines that a financial instrument is credit-impaired (in default and in stage 3 for
IFRS 9 purposes) by considering relevant objective evidence, when it meets one or more of the
below criteria:

s contractual payments of either principal or interest are past due for more than 80 days for any
material credit obligations to the Group;

« there are other indications that the borrower is unlikely to pay such as that a concession has
been granted to the borrower for economic or legal reasons of an enduring nature relating to
the borrower's financial condition, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial
difficulty (unlikeliness to pay criteria); and

s the loan is otherwise considered to be in default. If unlikeliness to pay is not identified at an
earlier stage, it is deemed to occur when an exposure is 90 days past due.

Therefore, the definitions of credit-impaired and default are aligned so that stage 3 represents all
loans which are considered defaulted or credit-impaired.

The default definition has been applied consistently to model the probability of default (PD),
exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD) throughout the Group's expected loss
calculations.

The Group considers certain financial assets, mainly loans and advances to banks and other
financial institutions, investments in debt securities and other receivables respectively, to be in
default when a payment due (including a coupon payment) is not effected.

2.2.3.3 Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL} is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or on a lifetime basis
depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or
whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted
product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default
(LGD). These three components are multiplied together effectively calculating the forward-looking
ECL, which is then discounted back to the reporting date. The discount rate used in the ECL
calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The 12-month ECGL is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, LGD, and EAD. Lifetime ECL is
calculated on a similar basis for the residual life of the exposure.

The PD, EAD and LGD parameters are estimated through the use of internally developed statistical
models on the basis of market available data, adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as
described below.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.3 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.3.3 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques -
continued

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per
"definition of default and credit-impaired” above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over
the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. Accordingly, the 12-month and lifetime PDs
represent the probability of default occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining maturity of
the instrument, respectively.

Market data is used in order to develop the PDs in respect of the Group's portfolios of financial
assets, including loans and advances tc banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances
to customers and investment securities. If a counterparty or exposure migrates between internal
rating grades or external credit ratings, then this will lead to a change in the associated PD.

The conditional PD is adjusted to consider forward-looking information through macroeconomic
modelling. In this respect, and as described in further detail in section 2.2.3.4., during the year, PDs
used in the calculation of expected credit loss adjustments were re-aligned fo reflect the change in
macro-economic variables as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In particular, PDs adopted during
the financial year were adjusted as a result of negative GDP forecasis indicated in the World
Economic Outlook forecasts published by the IMF.

EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12
months {12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD).

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default (including any expected
drawdowns of committed facilities). The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the
counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract. The EAD of a
financial asset is the gross carrying amount at default.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which
varies by product type:

o for amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual
repayments owed by the borrower gver a 12month or lifetime basis;

o for revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn balance
and adding a “credit conversion factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of the
remaining limit by the time of default. These assumptions vary by product type and current
limit utilisation band, based on analysis of the Group ‘s recent default data.

The Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on a
defaulted exposure. Hence, the LGD represents expected credit losses on the EAD given the event
of default, taking into account, among other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral values (if
any) at the time it is expected to be realised and the time value of money. The LGD is determined
based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post default.

Given that its portfolio of loans and advances to banks and other financial institutions and
investments in debt securities is generally unsecured, and in respect of loans and advances to
customers, the Group has no history of defaults, the LGD for the Group’s exposures is set at levels
hased on market available data for similar exposure classes.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2,3 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.3.3 Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques -
continued

The ECL is measured from the initial recognition of the financial asset. The maximum period
considered when measuring ECL (be it 12-month or lifetime ECL) is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. In the case of revolving credit facilities, provided that
such facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment structure, the Group defines the lifetime of such
exposures as 12 months, in case the next substantive credit review is within the next 12 months.

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime FD
and LGD. Refer to Note 2.2.3.4 for an explanation of forward-looking information and its inclusion in
ECL calculations.

There have been no significant changes in estimation fechniques or significant assumptions made
during the reporting period.

2.2.3.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model

The calculation of ECL incorporates forward-looking information. The Group performs a historical
analysis to identify the key economic variables affecting credit risk and expected credit losses for
each porifolio. These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD
may vary by portfolio.

In this respect, as part of its methodology for the application of forward looking economic
information into the calculation of ECL, the Group has identified key drivers of credit risk and credit
losses for each portfolio of financial instruments (namely, loans and advances to banks, loans and
advances to customers, including loans and advances to group companies and investment
securities) and, using an analysis of historical data, has analysed relationships between macro-
economic variables, credit risk and credit losses. The key drivers, for both 2019 and 2020, are
predominantly EEA-average gross domestic product (GDP) at constant prices and EEA-average
terms of trade of goods and services (ToD).

The impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has been determined by
performing statistical regression analysis to understand the impact changes in these variables have
had historically on default rates and on the components of LGD and EAD.

Three possible scenarios are considered to capture non-linearity across credit portfolios. The ‘base
line’ scenario represents the most-likely cutcome. It is based on authoritative sources forecasting
these economic variables referred to above and providing the best estimate view of the economy.
Apart from the 'base line’ scenario, the Group considers two other macro-economic scenarios —
Upside and Downside scenarios — which respectively represent a more optimistic and a more
pessimistic ouicome. Such scenarios reflect the current top and emergent risks and opportunities.
The more optimistic and more pessimistic scenarios are economically plausible and will not
necessarily be as severe as scenarios used in stress testing.

Each scenaric is weighted by a probability of occurrence, determined by a combination of
macroeconomic research and expert credit judgement, taking account the range of possible
cutcomes each chosen scenario represents. The Group measures ECL as either a probability
weighted 12-month ECL (Stage 1), or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3).
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.3 Expected credit loss measurement - continued
2.2.3.4 Forward-looking informaticn incorperated in the ECL modei - continued

These probability-weighted ECLs are determined by running each scenario through the relevant ECL
moadel and multiplying it by the appropriate scenario weighting (as opposed to weighting the Inputs).

In response to the ocutbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group performed an assessment in
order to determine whether the use of the standard framework as described above remains
appropriate in light of the extraordinary economic conditions being experienced currently. In the
light of the nature of the Group’s limited number of exposures, and specifically since credit risk from
the Group’s loans and advances to customers emanates principally from the credit risk attributable
to the Scully Royalty group and from a single third party whose performance improved following the
outbreak of the pandemic, management has concluded that the Group’s framework remains
appropriate,

The following table presents these macro-economic variables referred to above for the following
three forecasted years and the probabilities assigned to each of the Central, Upside and Downside
scenarios.

Macro-economic ECL -

variables Scenario Probability 2020 | 2021 2022 2023
EEA-average gross Base . 50% -7.51% 2.33% 2.41% 2.00%
domestic product (GDP) Upside 25% -7.01% 2.83% 2.91% 2.50%
at constant prices Downside 25% -8.01% 1.83% 1.91% 1.50%
World-average gross Base 50% -3.03% 2.33% 2.41% 2.00%
domestic product (GDP) Upside 25% -2.53% 2.83% 2.M% 2.50%
at constant prices Downside 25% -3.53% 1.83% 1.91% 1.50%
EEA-average terms of Base 50% 0.10% -0.07% 0.03% 0.01%
trade of goods and Upside 25% 0.60% -0.02% 0.53% 0.51%
services (ToD}. Downside 25% -040%  -1.20% -0.47% -0.49%

« The 'Base’ Scenario reflects the current economic condition (i.e. recession) in light of the
COVID-18 impact;

¢ The ‘Downside’ Scenario is based on subdued sconomic activity assuming that the economic
recession, and consequently GDP, will decline up to 50 basis points from the base scenario; and

» The ‘Upside’ Scenario is based on the assumption that economic recovery will be better than
anticipated leading to a 50 basis point improvement in forecasted GDP from the base case.

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario were 50% for the ‘Base’ scenario, 25% for the
‘Downside’ scenario and 25% for the ‘Upside’ scenario, for both 2018 and 2019. The number of
scenarios used is based on the analysis of each major product type to ensure that non-linearities
are captured. The number of scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each reporting date.
The economic scenarios were simulated over a full economic cycle.

The Board, after taking into account the impact of COVID-19, considers that the above prebability
weightings assigned to the respective scenarios reflect an unbiased evaluation of range of possible
outcomes.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.3 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.3.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model - continued

As with any macro-economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to
a high degree of uncertainty and therefore, the actual outcomes may be significantly different to
those projected. The Group considers these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible
outcomes.

As at 31 December 2020, the sensitivity of the ECL outcome to the economic forecasts was
assessed by recalculating the ECL under the baseline and downside scenarios described above for
the loan portfolio, applying a 100% weighting to each scenario.

In this respect, if the ECL outcome was estimated solely on the basis of the base and downside
scenarios respectively, the credit loss allowances in respect of the loan portfolios would amount to
£138,282 and €172,193, compared to a weighted average credit loss allowances estimated at year
end amounting to €142,662. In view of this, as at 31 December 2020, the sensitivity impact was not
considered to be significant.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such
as the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are
not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for
such factors. This is reviewed and moenitored for appropriateness on an ongeing basis.

2.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk

An ‘exposure’ is defined as the amount at risk arising from the Group's assets and off-balance
sheet items. The Group’s maximum credit risk with respect to on- and off-balance sheet items can
be classified into the following categories:

o Financial assets recognised on-balance sheet comprising principally investments in debt
securities and loans and advances to banks, customers and group companies. The maximum
exposure to credit risk of these financial assets equals their gross carrying amounts.

s Financial guarantee contracts entered into on behalf of third parties. Such exposures are
deemed to carry the same credit risk as loans and advances to customers. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is the full amount that the Group would have to pay if the guarantees
are called upon.

¢ Loan commitments and other credit related commitments that are irrevocable over the life of
the respective facilities. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the
committed facilities. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused
commitments as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers
maintaining specific credit standards. These exposures are monitored in the same manner in
respect of loans and advances.

The following tables set out the Group’s and Company's credit risk exposures, reflecting the
maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements, as well as an
analysis by staging classification:
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk - continued

Group

ECL Stage
Allowance Classification

2020
Stage Gross
Classification Exposure
€
Credit risk exposures relating
to on-balance sheet assets:
Financial assets measured as
FVPL:
Debt and other non-fixed
income securities 559,518
Litigation funding assets 2,624,550
Loans and advances to
customers 792,600
Subject fo IFRS 9 impairment
allowances
Financial assets measured at
FVOCI:
Debt securities Stage1 7,059,549
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost:
Balances with Central Bank of
Malta Stage 1 12,370,996
Loans and advances to banks
and other financial institutions Stage 1 3,949,666
Loans and advances to
customers Stage 1 10,932,811
Other receivables Stage 1 12,533,678
Accrued income and other
assels Stage 1 1,380,485
Credit risk exposure 52,203,853
2020
Stage Gross
Classification Exposure
€
Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Subject to IFRS 9
impairment allowances
Financial assets
measured at amortised
cost:
Loans and advances to
banks and other financial
institutions Stage 1 7,495,181
Other receivables Stage1 21,794,030
Accrued income and
cther assets Stage 1 1,408,444
Credit risk exposure 30,697,655

(428) Stage 1
{5,585) Stage 1
{142,662} Stage 1’
(98,265) Stage 1
- Stage 1
(246,940)
Company
ECL Stage
allowance Classification
€
- Stage 1
(98,265) Stage 1
- Stage 1
(98,265)

2018
Gross ECL
Exposure allowance
€
2,345,811 -
76,638 -
6,047,646 (2,107)
10,406,301 -
16,893,485 (7,139)
3,884,867 (85,118)
10,904,445 (98,265)
1,149,129 -
51,708,322 (192,629)
2019
Gross ECL
Exposure allowance
€ €
5,063,822 -
20,015,072 (98,265)
923,014 -
25,991,908 (98,265}
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk - continued

As part of its litigation funding activities, the Group could be a creditor of, and subject fo direct or
indirect credit risk from, a claimant, a defendant, both or other parties. Accordingly, litigation
funding assets are considered by the Group te be subject to credit risk.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, there were no purchased or credit-impaired
assets which are subject to the IFRS 8 impairment requirements.

Debt securities measured at FVOCI as at 31 December 2020 consisted of Maita Government Stock
{MGS), as well as securities issued by a local credit institution. Debt securities measured at FVOCI
as at 31 December 2019 consisted of Malta Government Stock (MGS), as well as securities issued
by a local credit institution and a foreign corporate. The credit loss allowances in respect of MGS -
debt securities were deemed insignificant.

2.2.5 Credit concentration risk

Within the Group, concentration risk of losses results from inadequate diversification of the credit
exposures. This risk is managed by actively measuring, reporting and monitoring on a regular and
ongoing basis risk concentration levels against reasonable thresholds for counterparties, products,
and territories.

In order to manage its principal risk exposures arising from its financial assets, primarily its loans
and advances to customers, the Group compiles and updates credit review reports in respect of
these financial assets. Where available, reference is also made to external reviews of primary
borrowers.

Credit concentration risk by geographical region

The geographical concentration of the Group’s and Company's financial assets as at the end of the
reporting period is analysed below. For the purposes of the table below, the Group has allocated
exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of the respective counterparties or
customers.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.5 Credit concentration risk - continued

Credit concentration risk by industry sector

Loans and advances to customers, gross of allowances, are analysed by industry concentration as

follows:
Group
2020 2019
€ €
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply - 227,879
Financial and insurance activities 2,650,000 2,665,000
Activities related to mining lease royalties 7,763,602 -
Wholesale and retall 519,209 413,388
Professional, scientific and technical activities - 578,600
10,932,811 3,884,867
Other recsivables, gross of allowances, are analysed by industry concentration as follows:
Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Financial and insurance activities 11,386,986 10,773,337 10,654,578 10,515,072
Industrial, commercial and service
Companies 777,040 131,108 11,139,452 9,500,000
Wholesale and retail 369,652 - - -
12,533,678 10,904,445 21,794,030 20,015,072

Credit concentration risk by name

The majority of Group's and Company’s lending exposures comprised of exposures to entities within
the Scully Rovalty Group. As at 31 December 2020, 95.88% (2019: 99.01%) of the Group’s loans
and advances to customers and other receivables is attributable to Scully Royalty Lid or entities
within the Scully Royaity Group, while 4.12% is attributable to third parties. Despite, the high level of
exposure towards the Scully Royalty Group, the Group has determined that as at 31 December 2020,

its exposures are fully performing and do not show any signs of increased credit risk.

As at 31 December 2020, 99.93% (2019: 100%) of Company’s other receivables is aftributable to

Scully Royalty Ltd or entities within the Scully Royalty Group.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.6 Information on credit quality of other financial assets

In the normal course of business, the Group places funds, carries out transactions and enters into
forward foreign exchange contracts mainly with listed international banks and local banks with a
strong credit standing, subject to the application of a limit framework.

As part of its treasury management activities the Group invests in listed sovereign bonds issued by
local and foreign governments, in listed debt securities issued by foreign credit institutions and in
other debt securities. These transactions are monitored through the practical use of exposure limits.

External ratings such as Moody's ratings or their equivalents are used for monitoring these credit
risk exposures.

At the end of the reporting period, none of the Group's financial assets which are subject to the
IFRS 9 impairment requirements were past due or impaired.

The following table shows the total carrying amount of debt securities held by the Group analysed
by credit rating based on Moody's equivalent ratings:

Central
At 31 December 2020 government Institutions Corporates Total
€ € € €
A1lto A3 6,948,549 - - 6,948,549
Not rated - 111,000 - 111,000
Total 6,948,549 111,000 - 7,059,549
Central
At 31 December 2019 government Institutions Corporates Total
€ € € €
Alto A3 4,941,236 - - 4,941,236
Baa1 to Baa3 - 568,500 - 568,500
Ba1 to B3 993,901 - 537,911 1,631,812
Caalto C 653,826 - - 653,826
Total 6,588,963 568,500 537,911 7,695,374
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.7 Loss allowances

Reconciliation of 12-month and lifetime ECL provision

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below:

transfers between ‘Stage 1' and ‘Stage 2' or 'Stage 3’ due to financial instruments
experiencing significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in
the period, and the consequent "step up" (or "step down") between 12-month and Lifetime ECL
- albeit, no stage transfers have occurred during neither 2020 not 2018;

additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as
releases for financial instruments derecognised in the period;

impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising
from regular refreshing of inputs fo models. In this respect, the effect on ECL of any movements in
gross carrying or notional amounts are included in the table below as ‘changes to risk parameters’;
impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;
discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present
value basis in case of Stage 3 exposures;

foreign exchange retranslations for assets denominated in foreign currencies and other
movements; and

financial assets written off during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that
were written off during the pericd. ‘
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.7 Loss allowances - continued
Reconciliation of 12-month and lifetime ECL provision - confinued

The following tables explain the changes in the loss allowance hetween the beginning and the end
of the annual period for the Group:

Group
2020
Stage 1
12-month
ECL
€
Leans and advances to banks and other financial institutions
at amortised cost
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020 7,139
Additional allowance attributable to financial assets originated during the year 5,260
Changes to risk parameters (model inputs PDs/LGDs/EADS) (1,042)
Impact of derecognition of assets (5.772)
Total net P&L impact during the year (1,554)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 5,585
Leans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020 85,118
Additional allowances for new loans and advances 52,740
Changes to risk parameters (model inputs PDs/LGDs/EADs) 23,716
Impact of derecognition of assets (14,849)
Total net P&L charge during the year 61,607
Changes due to foreign exchange movements (4,063)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 142,662
Other receivables
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020 98,265
Total net P&L charge during the year -
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 98,265
Debt securities measured at FVOCI
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020 2,107
Additional allowances for new debt securities 329
Impact of derecognition of assets (2,008)
Total net P&L impact during the year (1,679)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 428
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.7 Loss allowances - continued

Loans and advances to banks and amortised
other financial institutions
at cost
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019
Changes to risk parameters (model Inputs PDs/LGDs/EADSs)

Total net P&L charge during the year
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

Loans and advances to customers at
amortised cost
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019
Additional allowances for new lcans and advances
Changes to risk parameters {(model inputs PDs/LGDs/EADs)

Total net P&L charge during the year

Changes due to foreign exchange movements
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

Other receivables
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019

Total net P&L charge during the year
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

Debt securities measured at FYOCI

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2018

Additional ailowances attributable to acquired debt securities
Changes to risk parameters (model inputs PDs/LGDs)

Total net P&L charge during the year

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

Group
2019
Stage 1
12-month
ECL

€

7,139
7,139
7,139

4,034
33,854
47,512

81,366

(282)
85,118

98,265

98,265

2,008
99

2,107
2,107
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.7 Loss allowances - continued

Changes in the gross carrying amount that contributed fo changes in foss allowance

The following table explains changes in the gross carrying amount or fair value of the financial

assets to help explain their significance to the changes in the loss allowance for the same portfolios
as discussed above.

Group
2020
Stage 1
12-month
ECL
€
Loans and advances to banks and
financial institutions at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 20 16,893,485
New financial assets originated during the year 3,121,956
Changes in gross carrying amounts during the year (5,574,600)
Derecognition of assets during the year (10,491,175)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 3,949,666
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 . 3,884,867
New financial assets originated or purchased 7,763,602
Changes in gross carrying amounts during the year {122,057)
Derecognition of assets during the year (593,601)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 10,932,811
Other receivables
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 10,904,445
New financial assets originated or purchased 1,615,580
Changes in gross carrying amounts during the year 13,653
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 12,533,678
Debt securities measured at FYOCI
Fair value as at 1 January 2020 6,047,646
Purchases and fair value changes 4,214,435
Derecognition of assets during the year (3,202,532)

Fair value as at 31 December 2020 7,059,549
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.7 Loss allowances - continued

Loans and advances to banks and other
financial institutions at amortised cost

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019
Changes in gross carrying amounts during the year

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 2019

New financial assets originated or purchased

Changes in gross carrying amounts during the year

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

Other receivables

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019
New financial assets originated or purchased
Derecognition of assets during the year

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

Debt securities measured at FVOCI
Fair value as at 1 January 2019
Purchases and fair value changes
Derecognition of assets during the year

Fair value as at 31 December 2019

Group
2019
Stage 1
12-month
ECL

€

10,344,402
6,549,083

2,650,025
1,006,988
227,854

7,869,280
4,660,000
(1,624,835)

4,053,115
3,017,300
(1,022,769)

16,893,485

3,884,867

10,904,445

6,047,646

Changes in gross carrying amount arising from foreign-exchange and other movements were not

deemed significant.

The Company's loans and advances to banks and other financial institutions and other receivables
as at 31 December 2020 approximate the amounts as at 31 December 2019. As a result, the ECL
in respect of these balances as at 31 December 2020 remained in line with that as at 31 December

2019.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.8 Write-off policy

The Group writes off financial assets when it determines that these are uncollectible, it has
exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the counterparty does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-offs.

2.3 Market risk

The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from
open positions in interest rate and currency products, all of which are exposed to general and
specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as
interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

{a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Foreign exchange risk is the risk to
earnings and value caused by a change in foreign exchange rates. Foreign exchange risk arises
when financial assets or liabilittes are denominated in currencies which are different from the
respective group entity’s functional currency.

The Group manages its currency risk on an ongoing basis by ensuring that foreign currency
liabilities are utilised to fund assets denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching
asset and liability positions as much as is practicable. To the extent that such matching is not
possible, the Group hedges its open foreign exchange exposures by entering into foreign exchange
forward contracts with terms matching those of the hedged items,
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Financial risk management - continued

2.3 Market risk -~ continued

The following tables summarise the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at 31 December.
Included in the tables are the Group’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by

currency.

As at 31 December 2020

Financial assets

Financial assets measured at FVPL

Financial assets measured at FVOCI
Balances with Central Bank of Maita

Loans and advances to banks and other financial

institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Other receivables
Accrued interest income and other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Amounts owed to customers

Other payables

Accrued interest payable and other liabilities
Derivative liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

Group

Other
EUR  currencies Total
€ € €
3,417,150 3,576,608 6,993,848
7.059,549 - 7,059,549
12,370,996 - 12,370,996
1,260,432 2,683,649 3,944,081
10,292,668 497,481 10,790,149
12,065,761 369,652 12,435,413
1,378,926 1,559 1,380,485
47,845,482 7,129,039 54,974,521
24,380,571 - 24,380,571,
623,768 - 623,768
2,834,000 4,151,729 6,985,729
255,411 327,293 582,704
539,841 - 539,841
368,149 - 368,149
29,001,740 4,479,022 33,480,762

18,843,742 2,650,017
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Financial risk management - continued
2.3 Market risk - continued

(a) Foreign exchange risk - continued

Group
Other
EUR  currencies Total
€ € €

As at 31 December 2019
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at FVPL 76,638 5,085,811 5,172,449
Financial assets measured at FVOCI 5,509,735 537,911 6,047,646
Balances with Central Bank of Malta 10,408,301 - 10,406,301
Loans and advances to banks 14,346,035 2,540,311 16,886,346
Loans and advances to customers 2,613,822 1,185,927 3,799,749
QOther receivables 10,806,180 - 10,806,180
Accrued interest income and other assets 1,101,536 47,593 1,149,129
Total financial assets 44,860,247 9,407,553 54,267,800
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 24,287,159 - 24,287,159
Lease liabilities 683,141 - 683,141
Amounts owed to customers 6,420,284 3,796,175 10,216,459
Other payables 178,605 - 178,605
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 558,617 - 558,617
Total financial liabilities 32,127,806 3,796,175 35,923,981
Net on-balance sheet position 12,732,441 5,611,378
Net on-balance sheet position 12,732,441 5,611,378
Notional of derivative financial instruments - {528,214}
Residual exposure 12,732,441 5,082,464

The net exposure to foreign exchange rates as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 arises principally in
respect of securities which are denominated in US$. Although these securities are equity in nature,
they have still been included within the above tables, since movements in the foreign currency
component of these financial instruments is presented in profit or loss as part of any fair value
movements. Under the scenario that the eure appreciates against the USD from 1.2271 to 1.4271
(2019: 1.1234 to 1.3234) the impact recognised in profit or loss would amount to a loss of €422,841
(2019: €415,595). If on the other hand, the euro depreciates against the USD to 1.0000 the impact
recognised in profit or loss would amount to a profit of € 685,202 (2019: €339,350).

Typically, the Company does not take on any exposure to foreign currency transactions. As at 31
December 2020 the Company's only exposure to foreign currencies is by virtue of its investment in
securities of a refated party denominated in US$. As at 31 December 2019 the Company only had
one immaterial exposure in respect of receivables denominated in USD.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.3 Market risk - continued
{b) interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates either through the re-pricing of floating rate
instruments or through the maturity and replacement of fixed rate instruments. Fair value interest
rate risk is the risk that the value of a fixed rate financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposures analysed by their fixed or floating nature

as at 31 December is shown below:

Group
Floating Fixed
Rates rates Total
€ € €
At 31 December 2020
interest-bearing assets
Financial assets measured at FVPL:
Loans and advances to customers - 792,600 792,600
Financial assets measured at FVOCI:
Debt securities - 7,059,549 7,059,549
Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash 12,370,296 - 12,370,996
Loans and advances to banks and other financial
institutions 1,260,432 - 1,260,432
Loans and advances to customers 3,074,236 7,715,913 10,790,149
Other receivables - 10,652,727 10,552,727
16,705,664 26,120,789 42,826,453
interest-bearing liabilities
Borrowings - 24,380,571 24,380,571
Lease liabilities - 623,768 623,768
~ 25,004,339 25,004,339
Net exposure 16,705,664 1,116,450 17,822,114
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Financial risk management - continued
2.3 Market risk - continued

{b) Interest rate risk - continued

Group
Floating Fixed
Rates rates Total
€ € €
At 31 December 2019
Interesi-bearing assets
Financial assets measured at FVPL:
Debt securities - 1,647,728 1,647,728
Financial assets measured at FVOCI:
Debt securities - 6,047,646 6,047,646
Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
Balances with Central Bank of Malta
and cash 10,406,301 - 10,406,301
Loans and advances to banks 16,886,346 - 16,886,346
Loans and advances to customers 3,217,322 567,427 3,784,749
Other receivables - 9,762,954 9,762,954
30,509,969 18,025,755 48,535,724
Interest-bearing liabilities
Borrowings - 24,287,159 24,287,159
Lease liabilities - 683,141 683,141
Amounts owed to customers - 2,324,661 2,324,661
- 27,294,961 27,294,961
Net exposure 30,509,969 (9,269,206) 21,240,763

As at 31 December 2020 and 2018, the remaining balance in respect of financial asset measured at
FVPL, loans and advances to banks and other financial institutions, other receivables, and amounts
owed to customers, are non-interest bearing and accordingly are not included in the above table.

Financial instruments issued ai fixed rates potentially expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. Loans and advances to customers, other receivables, borrowings and amounts owed to
customers are measured at amortised cost and are therefore not subject to fair value interest rate
risk, even though a substantial part of these instruments are subject to fixed interest rates.

The Group’s instruments which are subject to fixed interest rates and that are fair valued comprise
principally the Group's debt securities measured at FVOCI and loans and advances to customers
measured at FVTPL. This exposes the Group to the risk of losses arising from fair value interest
rate risk. The Group manages iis interest rate risk by using sensitivity analysis utilising modified
duration, which measures the potential loss in market value arising from a 200 basis-point upward
parallel shift in yields, as required by banking regulatory and industry practices. The estimated
impact of an immediate 200 basis point increase in yields as at 31 December 2020 on the fair
valuation of the Group’s fixed rate securities amounts to a loss of €0.14m (2019: €0.20m).

Financial assets and liabilities issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. As outlined above, the Group was also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk principally in
respect of certain financial assets that were subject to floating interest rates.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.3 Market risk - continued

(b) Interest rate risk - continued

Taking cognisance of the nature of the Group’s financial assets as described above, under the
requirements of IFRS 7, a sensitivity analysis in respect of interest rate changes is required in
relation to the Group's net floating rate assets.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had increased by 1% (assuming a parallel shift of
100 basis points in yields, which is deemed more relevant for the measurement of cashflow interest
rate risk) with all other variables held constant, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, the
pre-tax result for the year would increase by €0.16m (2019: increase by €0.25m). Taking into
account the current low interest rate environment at 31 December 2020, the Group does not expect
interest rates to decrease by a further 100 basis poinis. Accordingly, the disclosure relating to an
assumed decrease in interest rates by a 100 basis points is not deemed necessary.

The Company’s exposures analysed by their fixed or floating nature as at 31 December is shown below:

Company
Floating Fixed
Rates rates Total
€ € €
At 31 December 2020
Interest-bearing assets
Loans and advances to banks and other financial .
institutions 3,003 - 3,003
Amounts due from the ultimate parent company - 5,892,727 5,892,727
Amounts due from subsidiaries - 14,000,000- 14,000,000
3,003 19,892,727 19,895,730
Interest-bearing liabilities
Borrowings - 24287159 24,287,159
Lease liabilities - 612,036 612,036
- 24,899,195 24,899,195
Net exposure 3,003 (5,006,468) (5,003,465)

As at 31 December 2019, ‘Amounts due from the ultimate parent company’ includes a revolving
credit facility amounting to €5,102,954 which is subject to a fixed interest rate of 6% and the
‘Amounts due from subsidiaries’ include subordinated loans amounting to €14,000,000 bearing
interest at fixed rates ranging from 4% to 6.5%. The Company's payables as at 31 December 2019
include €25 million Secured Bonds which are subject to 4% fixed interest rate. These instruments
are carried at amortised cost.

In the context of the above, the Company's exposure {0 interest rate risk as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 is not considered significant. Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how profit or
loss and eguity would have been affected by changes in interest rates that were reasonably
possible at the end of the reporting pericd is not deemed necessary.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.3 Market risk - continued
{b) Interest rate risk - continued

The following table summarises the Group’s exposures to interest rate risk. It includes the Group’s
principal financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by re-pricing dates, taking
cognisance of the instruments’ interest rate terms. The re-pricing period in respect of the Group's
interest-bearing assets and liabilities subject fo fixed interest rates is equivalent to the remaining
period to maturity.

Group
Within
three  Within one
Within months but year but

one over one over three More than
month month months one year Total
€ € € € €
As at 31 December 2020
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at
FVPL - - - 792,600 792,600
Financial assets measured at
FVOCI - - 619,740 6,439,808 7,059,549
Balances with Central Bank of Malta 12,370,996 - - - 12,370,996
Loans and advances to banks 1,260,432 - - - 1,260,432
Loans and advances to
customers . - 497,481 - 10,292,668 10,790,149
Other receivables 10,552,727 - - - 10,552,727
24,184,155 497,481 619,740 17,525,077 42,826,453

Financial liabilities

Borrowings - - - 24,380,571 24,380,571

Lease liabilities 36,562 g5 108,700 478,411 623,768
36,562 95 108,700 24,858,982 25,004,339

Interest rate gap 24,147,593 497,386 511,040 (7,333,905)

Cumutative gap 24,147,593 24,644,979 25,156,019 17,822,114
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Financial risk management - continued

2.3 Market risk - continued

{b) Interest rate risk - continued

Group
Within
three  Within one
Within months but year but
one over one over three More than
month month months ohe year Total
€ € € £ €
As at 31 December 2019
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at
FVPL - - - 1,647,728 1,647,728
Financial assets measured at
FVOCI - 568,500 - 5,479,146 6,047,646
Balances with Central Bank of Malta 10,406,301 - - - 10,406,301
Loans and advances to banks 16,886,346 - - - 16,886,346
Loans and advances (o
customers 227,793 380,708 3,166,248 - 3,784,749
Other receivables 4,660,000 - 5,102,954 - 9,762,954
32,180,440 959,208 8,269,202 7,126,874 48,535,724
Financial liabilities
Borrowings - - - 24,287,159 24,287,159
Lease liabilities 38,887 - 91,674 552,580 683,141
Amounts owed to customers 2,324,661 - - - 2,324,661
2,363,548 - 91,674 24,839,739 27,294,961
Interest rate gap 29,816,892 959,208 8,177,528 (17,712,865)
Cumulative gap 29,816,892 30,776,100 38,953,628 21,240,763

As at 31 December 2020, all of the Group’s ‘Other receivables’ (2019: €4,660,000) are repayable

on demand.

(c) Price risk

The Group's and Company's exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments held
by the Group measured at FVPL, which as at 31 December 2020 predominantly included equity
securities in a related party, valued at €3,017,180 (2019; €2,750,000) for the Group and €267,180 for
the Company. In view of the carrying amount of these investments in the context of the Group’s and
Company’s total assets, the directors have determined that the exposure to price risk from these
investments is not considered significant. Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis for equity price risk
disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in variables that
wouid impact the value of these instruments at the end of the reporting period is not deemed
necessary, as the directors are of the opinion that the net impact would be insignificant.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.4 Other risk attributable to financial assets that are mandatorily measured at FVTPL

The Group’'s financial instruments that are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss
comprise of:

* The Group’s equity investment in the ordinary shares issued by a related party;

» Afixed income loan that has a profit participation feature enabling the Group to participate
in any profit earned as a result of the activity being financed;

o Debt-like instruments issued by special purpose vehicles set up specifically to flnance
certain litigation claims; and

+ Direct litigation funding assets.

The Group's equity investment is exposed to equity price risk, as referred to within part (c) of
section 2.3 Market risk.

The loan with a profit participation feature is exposed to both credit risk as well as interest rate risk,
by virtue of a fixed interest rate element within the contractual agreement. These risks are
assessed as part of the Group’s credit risk and interest rate risk management frameworks and
considered within the respective disclosures in sections 2.2 and 2.3 respectively. [n addition, the
Group is also exposed to medel risk, which is the potential for adverse consequences from
business decisions informed by models.

Funding of legal claims is undertaken by the Group both directly, in which the Group, through its
subsidiary Merkanti Diesel Lid, provides financing to a portfolio of clients fe fund costs associated
with opening legal claims against defendants, and indirectly, in which the Group subscribes to
securities issued by special purpose vehicles set up specifically to finance certain litigation claims.
In order to manage this risk, the Group typically seeks to provide financing for groups of
homogenous cases thereby ensuring that its risk is adequately diversified, leading to a lower risk of
loss generally associated with multi-case portfolios. In addition, the Group seeks fo finance cases
that have relatively short tenors, which are typically are settled within one or two years.

in this respect, the directors have determined that in view of the immateriality of these assets
relative to the Group’s asset base, the risks described above are not significant. Accordingly, a
sensitivity analysis disclosing the effect of changes to key unobservable inputs is not deemed
necessary by the directors.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.5 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its
financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The
consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments.

The Group manages this risk by maintaining a strong base of shareholders’ capital considering the
stage of its operations. The Group manages its asset base with liquidity in mind and monitors
future cash flows and changes in available liquidity on a regular basis.

The Group holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality highly-liquid securities to support
payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The Group’s assets
held for managing liquidity risk comprise:

» short term placements with other banks; and
» unencumbered Malta Government stocks amounting to €6,948,549 (2019: €4,941,236) that

are readily acceptable as collateral for open market operations with the European Central
Bank.

Liquidity is managed by the Group's treasury function through the Group’s liquidity management
process. Liquidity management includes:
s day to day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can
be met including plans for replenishment of funds as they mature;
» maintaining a portfolic of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection
against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow;
e monitoring the liquidity ratios underlying the statement of financial position against internal
and regulatory requirements as applicable; and
+ managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Moreover, sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by the treasury function to maintain a
diversification by provider, product and term. Monitoring takes the form of cash flow projections for
the next day, week and month respectively, as these are key periods for short-term liquidity
management. Medium-term liquidity management is a regular subject at the meetings of the Board
of directors. Built on cash flow projections on a monthly and quarterly basis, the Board steers the
medium-term liquidity position of the Group and proactively sets actions to aveid any liquidity gaps.

78



Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
Annual Report and Consclidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2020

Financial risk management - continued
2.4 Liquidity risk - continued

The following table discloses financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period by
remaining period to maturity.

Group
Within
three Within one
Within months year but
one over one over three More than
month month months one year Total
€ € € € €
As at 31 December 2020
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at FVPL - - - 1,352,118 1,352,118
Financial assets measured at
FVOCI - - 619,740 6,439,809 7,059,549
Balances with Central Bank of Malta
and other banks 12,258,984 - - - 12,258,984
Loans and advances to banks and
other financial institutions 3,944,081 - - - 3,944,081
Loans and advances to customers - 497,481 - 10,292,668 10,780,149
Other receivables 11,464,741 121,020 369,652 480,000 12,435,413
Accrued interest income and other
assets 1,223,775 6,100 50,000 100,610 1,380,485
28,891,581 624,601 1,039,392 18,665,205 49,220,779
Financial liabilities )
Borrowings - - - 24,380,571 24,380,571
Lease liabilities 36,562 85 108,700 478,411 623,768
Amounts owed fo customers 6,985,729 - - - 6,985,729
Other payables 341,024 241,680 - - 582,704
Accrued interest payable and
other liabilities 206,108 - 333,733 - 539,841
7,569,423 241,775 442,433 24,858,982 33,112,613
Maturity gap 21,322,158 382,826 596,959 (6,193,777)
Cumulative gap 21,322,158 21,704,984 22,301,943 16,108,166
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.5 Liquidity risk - continued

Group
Within
three  Within one
Within months year but
one overone  over three More than
month month months ohe year Total
€ € € € €
As at 31 December 2019
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at FVPL - - - 2,345,811 2,345,811
Financial assets measured at
FVOCI - 568,500 - 5,479,146 6,047,646
Balances with Central Bank of Malta
and other banks 10,348,258 - - - 10,348,258
Loans and advances to banks 16,886,346 - - - 16,886,346
Loans and advances to
customers 227,793 390,708 3,166,248 15,000 3,799,749
Other receivables 5,703,226 - 5,102,954 - 10,806,180
Accrued interest income and other
assels 647,656 - 6,563 494,910 1,149,129
33,813,279 959,208 8,275,765 8,334,867 51,383,119
Financial liabilities .
Borrowings - - - 24,287,159 24,287,159
Lease liabilities ) 38,887 - 91,674 552,580 683,141
Amounts owed to customers 10,216,459 - - - 10,216,459
Other payables 178,605 - - - 178,605
Accrued interest payable and
other liabilities - 162,246 331,419 64,952 558,617
10,433,951 162,246 423,093 24,904,691 35,923,981
Maturity gap 23,379,328 796,962 7,852,672 (16,569,824)
Cumulative gap 23,379,328 24,176,290 32,028,962 15,459,138

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the remaining balance of financial assets measured at FVPL
relate to non-fixed income securities and equity instruments that have no fixed date of repayment
and are accordingly not included in the tables above.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.5 Liquidity risk - continued

As at 31 December 2020

Financial assets

Loans and advances to banks
and other financial institutions

Other recelvables

Accrued interest income and other
assets

Financial liabilities

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Other payables

Accrued interest payable and
other liabilities

Maturity gap

Cumulative gap

As at 31 December 2019

Financial assets

Loans and advances to banks

Other receivables

Accrued interest income and cther
assets

Financial liabilities

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Other payables

Accrued inferest payable and
other liabilities

Maturity gap

Cumulative gap

Company
Within
three Within
Within months year but
one overone over three More than
month month months one year Total
€ € € € €
7,495,181 - - - 7,485,181
6,290,804 - 924,961 14,480,000 21,695,765
858,342 550,102 - - 1,408,444
14,644,327 550,102 924,961 14,480,000 30,599,390
- - - 27,980,571 27,980,571
32,389 - 101,630 478,017 612,036
62,334 - - - 62,334
30,685 - 333,733 - 364,418
125,408 - 435,363 28,458,588 29,019,359
1 4,5i 8,919 550,102 489,598 (13,978,588)
14,518,919 . 15,069,021 15,558,619 1,580,031
5,053,822 - - - 5,053,822
912,118 - 5,102,954 14,000,000 20,015,072
- 519,665 - 403,349 923,014
5,965,940 519,665 5,102,954 14,403,349 25,991,908
- - - 24,287,159 24,287,159
31,113 - 79,742 541,809 652,664
101,146 - - - 101,146
. - 333,333 . 333,333
132,259 - 413,075 24,828,968 25,374,302
5,833,681 519,665 4,689,879 {10,425,619)
5,833,681 6,353,346 11,043,225 617,606
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Financial risk management - continued
2.5 Liquidity risk - continued

The following table analyses the Group’s principal undiscounted cash flows payable under non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the

end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date.

Group
Within Within
three ohe
Within months year but
one overone overthree More than Carrying
month month Months ohe year Total amount
€ € € € € €
As at 31 December 2020
Barrowings - - 666,267 30,000,000 30,666,267 24,380,571
Lease liabilities 42,397 100 124,022 505,385 671,904 623,768
Amounts owed to
customers 6,985,729 - - - 6,985,729 6,985,729
Cther payables 341,024 241,680 - - 582,704 582,704
Accrued interest payable
and other liabilities 206,108 - 333,733 - 539,841 539,841
7,575,258 241,780 1,124,022 30,505,385 39,446,445 33,112,613
As at 31 December 2019
Borrowings - - 700,000 31,000,000 31,700,000 24,287,159
Lease liabilities 41,037 - 113,488 593,774 748,299 683,141
Amounts owed to
customers 10,216,508 - - - 10,216,508 10,216,459
Other payables 178,605 - - - 178,605 178,605
Accrued interest payable
and other liabilities - 162,246 331,419 - 493,665 493,665
10,436,150 162,246 1,144,907 31,593,774 43,337,077 35,859,029

In addition to the above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company has an outstanding derivative
liability (Note 22) which is valued at €368,149, the timing of which depends on upon the settlement
of certain business, but which is expected to occur within one (1) year from the end of the financial
reporting period.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all of the Group’s assets, other than for investment property,
which is pledged in favour of bond holders (Note 21), are available to support potential future
funding and collateral needs.

The Company’s principal liabilities comprise borrowings as reflected within the tables above. The
differences between the Company’s payables, lease liabilities and accruals with respect to those of
the Group are deemed immaterial. Accordingly, the Company's undiscounted cash flows payable
under non-derivative financial liabilities analysed into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining petiod at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date are principally
reflected in the tables.
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2.

Financial risk management - continued
2.6 Operational risk - continued

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated
with the Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors
other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory
requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. The Company’s Beard of
directors is primarily responsible for the development and implementation of policies and
procedures to ensure that cperational risks are managed effectively.

The Group mitigates the possibility of impact risk events through the implementation of a business
continuity plan, which encompasses risk mitigation achieved through back-up information security
infrastructures, back-up disaster recovery sites and insurance covers over particular business risks.

Such systems enable the Group to operate on an ongeing basis and limit losses in the event of
severe business disruption.

2.7 Capital risk management

The Group's cbjectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. in order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares or adjust the amounts of dividends paid
to shareholders.

The Group monitors the level of capital on the basis of the ratio of borrowings to total capital. Total
borrowings, as shown in the consolldated statement of financial position, consist of the listed bonds
issued to the general public {refer to Note 21). Total capital is the aggregate of total equity, as
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position, and borrowings. As at 31 December
2020 and 2019, the Group's total borrowings amounted to €25 million and its total capital amounted
to €78 million, consisting of total equity and borrowings. Hence the Group’s borrowings/capital ratio
at 31 December 2020 and 2019 amounted to 32%.

The Group manages the relationship between equity injections and borrowings, being the
censtituent elements of capital as reflected above, with a view to managing the cost of capital. The
level of capital, computed by reference to amounts reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position, is maintained taking cognisance of the Group's respective financial obligations
and commitments arising from operational requirements. In view of the nature of the Group’s
activities and the extent of borrowings or debt, the capital level at the end of the reporting period
determined by reference to the consolidated financial statements is deemed adequate by the
Directors.

One of the Company’s principal subsidiaries is a credit institution, which is regulated by the Malta
Financial Services Authority. The Bank is required to maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to
risk-weighted assets ("Capital requirements ratio”) above the prescribed minimum level at all times.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the bank has complied with all such externally imposed
regulatory capital requirements.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.8 Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments - continued

Financial instruments measured at fair value - continued

The following table analyses financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value, by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy. The different

levels have been defined as follows:

s quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2}.

« jnpuis for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3). If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

The following table presents the Group’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€ € € €
As at 31 December 2020
Assets
Financial assets measured af FVPL:
Non-fixed income instruments - - 569,518 559,518
Litigation funding assets - - 2,624,550 2,624,550
Equity instruments - - 3,017,180 3,017,180
Loans and advances to customers - - 792,600 792,600
Financial assets measured at FVOCI: '
Debt and other fixed income instruments 7,059,549 - - 7,059,549
Total financial assets at fair value 7,059,549 - 6,993,848 14,053,397
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - - 368,149 368,149
Total financial liabilities at fair value - - 368,149 368,149
As at 31 December 2019
Assets
Financial assets measured at FVPL
Debt and other fixed income instruments - 1,647,728 - 1,647,728
Non-fixed income instruments - - 698,083 698,083
Litigation funding assets - - 76,638 76,638
Equity instruments - - 2,750,000 2,750,000
Financial assets measured at FVOC! 5,509,736 537,910 - 6,047,646
Total financial assets at fair value 5,509,736 2,185,638 3,524,721 11,220,095
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 64,952 - 64,952
Total financial liabilities at fair value - 64,952 - 64,952

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.8 Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments - continued
Financlal instruments measured at fair value - continued

{a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instrumeants traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, instruments included in level 1 principally
comprise of debt instruments issued by the Government of Malta and debt instruments issued by
local credit institutions which are listed on the Malta Stock Exchange.

{b) Financial instruments in level 2

Fair values of instruments included in level 2 are based on quoted prices but in markets that are not
active. As at 31 December 2019, instruments included in level 2 comprises foreign sovereign debt
securities and foreign corporate debt securities that were either trading at a significant discount and
or had a spread substantially wider than the industry average.

Fair values for the Group’s derivative contracts were determined utilising valuation techniques,
involving primarily the use of discounted cash flow techniques. The fair values referred to were
determined by reference to market prices or rates (forward foreign exchange rates) quoted at the
end of the reporting pericd. The valuation techniques used were supported by observable market
prices or rates since their variables include only data from observable markets. The Group's
derivative financial instruments were accordingly categorised as level 2 instruments.

(c) Financial instruments in fevel 3

Fair values of instruments included in level 3 consist of instruments for which a valuation technique
includes inputs not based on cbservable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect
on the instrument's valuation. This category includes unlisted equity and debt securities that have
failed the solely payments of principal and interest test and are therefore mandatorily measured at
fair value. They also include litigation funding assets, which represent financing by the Group to
fund a portfolio of homogenous legal cases, as well as a derivative liability which entitles the holder
of an option written by Merkanti Holding p.l.c. to buy 36.25% of the shares of Merkanti Diesel L_td.
As a result, the holder of the option, has a claim on the equity of Merkanti Diesel Limited, which is
the entity through which the portfolio of legal claims is funded, thereby giving the third party a claim
on the net gains recorded by Merkanti Diesel Limited in respect of this portfolio.

In view of the absence of quoted market prices or observable inputs for medelling value, the fair
value of the instruments held is derived using a range of medelling approaches. Uncbservable
Inputs and assumptions in respect of the loan and debt securities that have failed the SPPI test
include cash inflows under different scenarios, the timing of such cashflows, the probability
outcomes under the different scenarios and the discount rate.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.8 Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments - continued
Financial instruments measured af fair value - continued

The fair value of the equity securities held by the Group is derived using the residual income
method. The principal unobservable inputs and assumptions in this regard include the revenue
growth rate over the explicit pericd, the in-perpetuity growth rate and the discount rate.

The key unobservable inputs with respect to the litigation funding assets and non-fixed income
securities relate to the assumptions in respect of the likelihood of a positive outcome and the
potential settlement value, while the unobservable inputs relating to loans and advances to
customers that are measured at fair value include the timing of cashflows, the probability outcomes
under different scenarios and the discount rate.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items:

Non-fixed Litigation Equity Loans and
income funding instruments advances to Total
securities assets customers
€ € €
At 1 January 2019 - - - - -
Additions/Acquisitions 484,571 76,638 2,750,000 - 3,311,209
Net movement in fair value . 212,657 - - - 212,657
Foreign exchange
adjustments 855 - - - 855
At 31 December 2019 698,083 76,638 2,750,000 - 3,524,721
At 1 January 2020 698,083 76,638 2,750,000 - 3,524,721
Additions/Acquisitions - 1,454,926 267,180 792,600 2,514,706
Disposals {82,469) - - - (82,469)
Net movement in fair value (34,018) 1,092,986 - - 1,058,970
Foreign exchange
adiustments (22,080) - - - (22,080)
At 31 December 2020 559,518 2,624,550 3,017,180 792,600 6,993,848

There were no transfers between different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2018.

In view of the immateriality of the Level 3 assets in the context of the Group's balance sheet, the
disclosures required in respect of key unobservable inputs to Level 3 financial instruments and the
sensitivity of Level 3 fair values to reasonably possible alternatives in respect of significant
unobservable assumptions was not deemed necessary by the directors.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Loans and advances to banks and customers as well as other receivables are carried at amortised
cost in the statement of financial position. The directors consider the carrying amounts of loans and
advances to customers and banks and of the Group's and Company’s other receivables to be a
reascnable estimate of their fair value principally in view of the relatively short periods to repricing
or maturity from the end of the reporting periods.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.8 Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments - continued
Financial instruments measured at fair value - continued

The fair value of amounts owed to customers is also estimated to approximate the amortised cost
since they are all repayable at call. With regards to the €25 million 4% Secured Bonds as disclosed
under Note 21, the fair value of these liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was €25,002,500 (2019:
€25,100,000). These estimates are considered level 1 fair value estimates.

Non-financial instruments measured at fair value

The Group’s land and buildings within investment property, were revalued on 31 December 2020
and 2019 by an external valuation expert having appropriate recognised professional qualifications
and experience in the location and category of the property being valued.

The Directors have reviewed the carrying amounts of the properties as at 31 December 2020, on
the basis of the valuations carried out by the independent property valuers.

Valuations were made on the basis of open market value taking cognisance of the specific location
of the properties, the size of the sites together with their development potential, the availability of
similar properties in the area, and whenever possible, having regard to recent market transactions
for similar properties in the same location.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019 the carrying amounts of the Group's investment property was
adjusted to reflect the properties’ estimated open market value con an individual asset level.

The Group is required to analyse non-financial assets carried at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy within which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety (Level
1, 2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined above as fair value
measurements using:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1)
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2);

« Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
{Level 3).

Investment property comprises commercial property leased out as offices and industrial premises to
third parties including the Group’s related parties (Note 39). All the recurring property fair value
measurements at 31 December 2020 and 2019 use significant unobservable inputs and are
accordingly categorised within Level 3 of the fair valuation hierarchy.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels on the date
the event or change Iin circumstances that causes the iransfer occurs. There were no transfers
between different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of investment property for
recurring fair value measurements is reflected in the table in Note 10.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.8 Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments - continued

Non-financial instruments measured at fair value - continued

Valuation processes

The valuations of the properties are performed annually on the basis of valuation reports prepared
by independent and qualified valuers. These reports are based on both:

+ information provided by the Group which is derived from the Group’s financial systems and is
subject to the Group’s overall control environment; and

» assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers - the assumptions are typically market-
related. These are based on professional judgement and market observation.

The information provided to the valuers, together with the assumptions and the valuation models
used by the valuers, are reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEQO) of the Company. This
includes a review of fair value movements over the period.

Valuation technigues

The external valuations of the Level 3 investment property have been performed using the
comparative value approach for the purpose of valuing land and using the traditional investment
method of valuation based on the capltalised maintainable income appreach for the purpose of
valuing the buildings. The valuations have been performed using the uncbservable inputs described
below:

()  Comparative value approach for developed and undeveloped [and

Comparable land values derived from the Reglonal Authorites for Survey and

per sgm Geoinformation covering Saxony-Anhalt as at 31 December 2019.
Other land specific object-specific costs and income affecting the ultimate value of the
adjustments real estate at hand, including decreases in market value of land

area affected by any form of contamination.
(i) Capitalised maintainable income approach for buildings

Maintainable income the maintainable income is equivalent to the expected income
which the valuer expects the property to generate in the
foreseeable future, being the gross yield which the property is able
to generate less an appropriate level of management costs,
including: administrative costs, maintenance expenses and rental
failure costs, deemed necessary for the operation of the buildings.

Capitalisation rate based on average real estate rental yield rates observed by the
valuer for comparable properties in the respective regions. Since
the properties comprise a mixture of uses, a weighted rental yield
was applied by the valuer.
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Financial risk management -

continued

2,8 Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments - continued

Non-financial instruments measured at fair value - continued

Expected service (useful)
life

Other building specific
adjustments

Description by class
Land

Buildings - current use as third
party offices, production and
storage facilities

Land and building specific
adjustments

Total fair value

based on the valuer's best estimate of the remaining useful life of
the buildings, after taking into consideration the location, the state
of construction and possible economic utilisation of the buildings.

object-specific costs and income affacting the ultimate value of the
real estate at hand, including repairs and maintenance costs and

vacancy costs.

Fair value
€'000

20,921

13,292

(1,626)

32,587

At 31 December 2020

Valuation
technique

Comparative
value
approach

Capitalised
maintainable
income
approach

Significant

unchservable

input

Comparable
land values
per sqm

Maintainable
income
Capitalisation
rate
Expected
service
(useful} life

Range of
uncbservable
inputs

€10-€20 per
sgqm

€555,000 -
€696,000 p.a.

6.75%-7%

10-20 years
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Financial risk management - continued

2.8 Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments - continued

Non-financial instruments measured at fair value - continued

At 31 December 2019

Significant Range of
Fair value Valuation unobservable unobservable
€000 technique input inputs
Description by class
Land 23,249 Comparative Comparable
value land values €10-€20 per
approach per sgm sgm
Maintainable €596,000 -
- income  €691,000 p.a.
Buildings - current use as third 13,679 mg;?:ﬂ:;g Capitalisation
party offices, production and . rate 6.75%-7%
storage facilities approach Expect'ed
service
(useful) life 10-20 years
Land and building specific (1,788)
adjustments
Total fair value 35,140

The higher the maintainable income per annum and the comparable land value per square metre,
the higher the resultant fair valuation. Conversely, the lower the capitalisation rate the higher the
fair value. The highest and best use of the properties reflected in the tables above is equivalent to
their current use.

Critical accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

In the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgments made in the course of
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would
warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of I1AS 1.

The directors believe there are no areas involving a higher degree of judgment that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements; and there are no key
assumptions and other key sources of estimation uncertainty relating to estimates that require
directors’ most difficult, subjective or complex judgments.
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Balances with Central Bank of Malta and cash

Group
2020 2019
€ €
Cash in hand _ 1,000 1,000
Balances held with Central Bank of Malta 12,370,996 10,406,301

12,371,996 10,407,301

Balances held with Central Bank of Malta include reserve deposits relating to the Minimum Reserve
Requirement in terms of Regulation (EC) No 1745/2003 of the ECB amounting to €112,012 {(2019:
€58,043) bearing interest at 0% per annum. Overnight deposits with the Central Bank of Malta
amounting to €12,258,984 (2019; €10,348,258) were subject to a negative interest rate of 0.5% per
annum.

Loans and advances to banks and other financial institutions

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Repayable on call and at short notice 3,944,081 16,886,346 7,495,181 5,053,822

Loans and advances with a contractual maturity of three months or less are included in cash and
cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows (Note 38). As at 31 December
2020, an expected credit loss ("“ECL") allowance amounting to €5,585 was accounted for in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 (2019: €7,139).
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Loans and advances to customers

Group
2020 2019
€ €
Gross loans and advances 10,932,811 3,884,867
Allowance for credit losses {142,662) (85,118)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 10,790,149 3,799,749

Loans and advances to customers at 31 December 2020 include credit exposures with related
parties amounting to €10,413,602 (2019: €3,869,887) prior to ECL, €7,763,602 of which is a result
of a purchased receivables transaction exposing the Group to credit risk to a third party.

Movements in expected credit loss allowances during 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Group
2020 2019
€ €
At beginning of year 85,118 4,034
Change in expected credit losses (Note 35) 61,607 81,366
Changes due to foreign exchange movements (4,063) (282)
At end of year ' ' 142,662 85,118
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Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Group
2020 2019
€ €
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Debt and other fixed income instruments - 1,647,728
Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit
orloss
Non-fixed income securities 559,518 698,083
Litigation funding assets 2,624,550 76,638
Equity instruments 3,017,180 2,750,000
Loans and advances to customers 792,600 -
6,993,848 5,172,449
Analysed by issuer:
- foreign general governmenis - 1,647,728
- other issuers 6,993,848 3,524,721
6,993,848 5,172,449
Listing stafus:
- foreign listed - 1,647,728
- unlisted 6,993,848 3,524 721
6,993,848 5,172,449

The debt and other fixed income instruments held as at 31 December 2019 consisted of USD
denominated debt securities issued by foreign sovereigns. These investments were acquired with a
view to sell in the short term in anticipation of expected gains from changes in market prices taking
cognisance of the purchase price being significanfly below par. The investments were disposed of
during 2020. The fair value loss resulting on disposal of these investments is included within ‘Net
trading gains’ (Note 31).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's financial instruments that are mandatorily measured at fair
value through profit or loss comprise non-fixed income securities issued by special purpose vehicles
set up specifically to finance certain litigaticn claims, a fixed interest loan that also has a profit
participation feature that enables the Group to participate in any profit earned as a result of the
activity being financed, and loans advanced to fund litigation claims amounting to €2,624,550 (2019:
€76,638). They are mandatorily measured at fair value as they have failed the SFPPI test. Financial
instruments that are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss also comprise equity
securities issued by a related party with a carrying amount of €3,017,180 (2019: 2,750,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Company's financial instruments that are mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit or less consisted solely of the investment in equity securities issued by a
related party with a carrying amount of €267,180.
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Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss - continued

The movement in financia! assets measured at fair value through profit or less is summarised as
follows:

Group

2020 2019

€ €
At 1 January 5,172,449 684,179
Additions/Acquisitions 3,161,610 3,756,892
Disposals {2,364,558) -
Net movement in fair value 998,426 731,905
Foreign exchange adjustments 25,921 (627)
At 31 December 6,993,848 5,172,449

Towards the end of 2020, the Company acquired equity securities issued by a related party for a
consideration of €267,180. There were no movements in the fair value of these securities between
the acquisition date and the end of the reporting period.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Group :
2020 2019
€ €
Debt and other fixed income instruments 7,059,549 6,047,646
Analysed by issuer:
- local general government 6,948,549 4,941,236
- local credit institutions - 568,500
- other issuers 111,000 537,910
7,059,549 6,047,646
Listing status:
- listed on Malta Stock Exchange 7,059,549 5,509,736
- listed elsewhere - 537,910
7,059,549 6,047,646
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Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income - continued

The movement in financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income may
be summarised as follows:

Group
2020 2019
€ €
At 1 January 6,047,646 4,053,115
Acquisitions 4,177,610 3,091,919
Disposals/redemptions (3,188,157) {1,000,000)
Amortisation (73,152) (85,349)
Net fair value movements 39,692 {52,345)
Foreign exchange adjustments 55,910 40,306
At 31 December 7,059,549 6,047,646

As at 31 December 2020, an expected credit loss (“ECL") allowance amounting to €428 was
accounted for in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 (2019: €2,107).

Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2020 2019
€ €
At 1 January ' 50,369,346 46,722,881
Additions through incorporation - 1,114
Acquisitions of additional stakes in subsidiaries - 3,645,351
Acquisitions from other related parties 212,741 -
At 31 December 50,582,087 50,369,346

The subsidiaries at 31 December 2020, whose results and financial position affected the figures of
the Group, are shown below:

Name of company Registered office

Merkanti Bank Limited Aragon House Business Centre, Dragonara Road
St Julian's, STJ 3140, Malta

Merkanti (A) Aragon House Business Centre, Dragonara Road
International Limited St Julian's, STJ 3140, Malta
Merkanti (D) Aragon House Business Centre, Dragonara Road
International Limited St Julian's, STJ 3140, Malta

Merkanti Diesel Limited  Aragon House Business Centre, Dragonara Road
St Julian’s, STJ 3140, Malta

Altmark Immobilien Sanner Strasse 2
Management Gmbh 39596 Arneburg, Germany
MFCR Criental S.A. Juncal 1378 (1301)

Montevideo, Uruguay
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Investments in subsidiaries - continued

On 28 May 2020, Merkanti Holding p.l.c. entered into a share purchase agreement to acquire 100%
of the issued share capital of Altmark Immobilien Mangement GmbH (‘AIM’) from IEM Service Co.
Ltd, a related party, effective from 1 January 2020. AIM provides property management services to
Merkanti (A) International Limited and Merkanti (D} International Limited and is incorporated under the
Laws of the Germany.

On 1 July 2020, Merkanti Holding p.l.c. entered into a share purchase agreement with IEM Service
Co. Lid, a related party, to acquire 100% of the issued share capital of MFCR Oriental S.A., effective
from 1 January 2020. MFCR Oriental S.A. is a company involved in the purchase and re-sale of a
specific commodity, incorporated under the Laws of the Uruguay.

1 January 2020 is accordingly considered to be the date upon which control of AIM and MFCR
Oriental S.A. was transferred to the Group. Accordingly, these subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from 1 January 2020.

Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets acquired are as follows:

MFCR
AIM Oriental S.A.
€ €
Purchase consideration in seftlement of receivables from a related 161,940 50,801
party ‘
Fair value of net assets acquired:
Loans and advances to banks and other financial institutions 132,857 33,375
Property, plant and equipment 125,833 -
Right-of-use asset 1,488 -
Inventories - 336,479
Other receivables 37,536 206,694
Accrued income and other assets 3,659 678
Lease liabilities (1,500) -
Current tax liabilities - {1,519)
Deferred tax liabilities (7.903) -
Other payables (81,840) (524,906)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities {48,190) -
Net identifiable assets acquired 161,940 50,801

The acquired businesses contributed revenues of €3,199,621 and net loss of €239,374 to the group
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020.
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Investments in subsidiaries - continued

On 16 December 2019, Merkanti Diesel Ltd was incorporated, as a fully owned subsidiary of
Merkanti Holding p.l.c. Merkanti Diese!l Ltd was set up specifically to finance a portfolio of
homogenous litigation claims in Germany.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Company held 100% of the Ordinary shares of Merkanti
Diesel Ltd. However, as referred to in more detail in Note 22, during 2020, Merkanti Holding p.l.c.
entered into an agreement in which it granted an option to a third party to acquire 435 shares
(36.25%) in Merkanti Diesel Ltd. The option is exercisable upon settlement of all litigation claims
within the portfolio referred to above at an exercise price of €1.00. Simultaneously, upon the
exercise of the option, Merkanti Holding p.l.c. retained the right to re-acquire these shares at the net
tangible asset value of Merkanti Diesel Ltd.

During both 2020 and 2019, the Company held 100% of the Ordinary shares of Merkanti Bank
Limited.

On 27 December 2019, Merkanti Holding p.l.c. entered into a share purchase agreement to acquire
85% of the issued Ordinary share capital of Merkanti (A} International Limited and 85% of the issued
Ordinary share capital of Merkanti (D) International Limited, both being property companies which
were incorporated under the Laws of the Marshall Islands at the time. These two property companies
were redomiciled to Malta with effect from 8 July 2019. Subseguently and prior to the end of 2019,
Merkanti Holding p.l.c. for fiscal and tax planning purposes, determined to increase its interest by a
further 9.9% of the issued Ordinary share capital of Merkanti (A) International Limited and a further
9.9% of the issued Ordinary share capital of Merkanti (D) International Limited. Accordingly, as at
31 December 2019, the Company held 94.9% (2018: 85%) of the Ordinary shares of both Merkanti
{(A) International Limited and Merkanti (D) International Limited.

The consideration in respect of the additional 9.9% investment in these two property companies
amounted to €3,645,351, which was equal to the proportionate amount derecognised in non-
controlling interests.

MERKANTI MERKANTI

(A) (D)

Limited Limited

€ €

Fair value of initial 85% equity holding as at acquisition date 21,646,892 7,834,613
Fair value of additional 9.9% equity holding 2,732,345 913,006

24,379,237 8,747,619

Disclosure of financial information related to non-controlling interests in the Group’s activities and
cash flows as required by IFRS 12 is not being made on the basis that non-controlling interests are
not considered material to the Group.
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10. Investment property

Group
2020 2019
€ €
At 1 January 35,140,000 33,071,000
Disposals (3,037,662) -
Changes in fair value 484,662 2,069,000
At 31 December 32,687,000 35,140,000

During 2020, the Group disposed of a part of its investment property, in respect of which a profit of
€126,884 was realised upon disposal.

The Group's invesiment property is measured at fair value. The fair value as at 31 December 2020

and as at 31 December 2019 was estimated by an external valuation expert reflecting the actual
market state, conditions and circumstances as at the reporting date.

11. Property, plant and equipment

Group
Office
improvements
Computer and
equipment equipment Others Total
€ € € €
At 1 January 2019
Cost 317,429 109,022 19,538 445,989
Accumulated depreciation (268,192) (81,623) (19,538) (369,353)
Net book amount 49,237 27,399 - 76,636
Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount 49,237 27,399 - 76,636
Additions 71,782 127,522 - 199,304
Disposals (2,749) - (18,964) (21,713)
Depreciation charge {35,242) (10,983) - (46,225)
Depreciation released on disposals 2,749 - 18,964 21,713
Closing net book amount 85,777 143,938 - 229,715
At 1 January 2020
Cost 386,462 236,544 574 623,580
Accumulated depreciation {300,685) (92,606) (574) (393,865)
Net book amount 85,777 143,938 - 229,715
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11. Property, plant and equipment - continued

Group
Office
improvements
Computer and
equipment equipment Others Total
€ € €
Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book amount 85,777 143,938 - 229,715
Additions 40,561 159,886 - 200,447
Disposals (3.259) (38,779) - (42,038)
Depreciation charge (39,018) (55,592) - (94.610)
Depreciation released on disposal 1,082 22,337 - 23,419
Closing net book amount 85,143 231,790 - 316,933
At 31 December 2020
Cost 423,764 357,651 574 781,089
Accumulated depreciaticn (338,621} (125,861) (574) (465,056)
Net hook amount 85,143 231,790 - 316,933
Company
Office
improvements
and
equipment
€
Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount -
Additions 123,440
Depreciation charge {2,588)
Closing net book amount 120,854
At 1 January 2020
Cost 123,440
Accumulated depreciation (2,5886)
Net book amount 120,854
Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book amount 120,854
Additions 1,188
Depreciation charge (24,737)
Closing net book amount 97,306
At 31 December 2020
Cost 124,629
Accumulated depreciation (27,323)
Net book amount 97,306
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12. Intangible assets

Group
Computer
software
€
At 1 January 2019
Cost 263,238
Accumulated amortisation (226,763}
Net book amount 36,475
Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net bock amount 36,475
Amortisation charge (11,151)
Closing net book amount 25,324
At 31 December 2019
Cost 263,238
Accumulated amortisation (237,914)
Net book amount 25,324
Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net hook amount 25,324
Amortisation charge ' (7,441)
Closing net book amount _ 17,883
At 31 December 2020
Cost 263,238
Accumulated amortisation {245,355)
Net book amount 17,383
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13.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The Group and the Company lease computer hardware and office space. The lease contracts are
for fixed periods but have extension options. In this respect, the extension periods have been
included in determining lease terms.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use (‘ROL)) asset and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. The right-of-use asset is recognised at an
amount equal to the lease liahility at the date at which the leased asset is made available for use,
and subsequently depreciated till the earlier of the end of the useful life or the ROU asset or the end
of the lease term.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group does not have leases with contract terms shorter than one
year and leases of low-value items, for which the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets.

Right-of-use-assets Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
At 1 January 680,181 - 650,860 -
Impact of adoption of IFRS 16 - 87,407 - -
Additions 69,054 656,329 67,566 658,329
Depreciation {165,640) (63,555) (145,343) (5,469)
At 31 December 583,595 680,181 573,083 650,860

The carrying amounts of the ROU asset in respect of office premises has not been disclosed
separately from the ROU asset in respect of computer hardware since the lease in respect of
computer hardware is not deemed significant.

The lease liabilities were initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, which represents the rate that the
Company or its subsidiaries would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security

and conditions. The movement in lease liabilities is analysed below:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
At 1 January 683,141 87,407 652,664 -
Additions 69,066 656,329 67,566 656,329
Interest expense on lease liability 27,007 7,208 26,195 2,168
Principal element of lease (155,446) (67,803) {134,389) (5,833)

payments

At 31 December 623,768 683,141 612,036 652,664
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13.

14.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities - continued

Lease liabilities are split into maturity groupings as follows:

Current
Non-current

At 31 December 2020

The income statement reflects the following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use-assets

Interest expense
Lease termination expenses

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
145,357 130,561 134,019 110,855
478,411 552,580 478,017 541,809
623,768 683,141 612,036 652,664
Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
165,640 63,555 145,343 5,469
27,007 7,208 26,195 2,168

- 141,207

The total cash payments for leases of the Group in 2010 was €209,010, of which €141,207 is related to
a property lease which was entered info during 2019 and which was terminated prior to the end 2019.

Other receivables

Trade receivables
Amounts due from ultimate

parent company
Amounts due from other related parties
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amount due from a sharehelder

Allowance for credit losses

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

€ € € €

432,201 131,108 - -
11,386,986 10,773,337 6,137,078 6,113,337
699,491 - 699,491 -

- - 14,942,461 14,000,000

15,000 - 15,000 -
12,533,678 10,804,445 21,794,030 20,113,337
(98,265) (98,265) (98,265) {98,265)
12,435,413 10,806,180 21,695,765 20,015,072

Amounts due from the ultimate parent company consist of a revolving credit facility granted by the
Company amounting to €5,892,727 (2019: €5,102,954) which is subject to an interest rate of 8.25%
(2019: 6%), and a loan amounting to €244,351 (2019: €1,010,383) which is repayable on demand
and is not subject to interest. At Group level, amounts due from the ultimate parent also include a
loan amounting to €4,660,000 (2019: €4,660,000) granted by a subsidiary which is repayable on
demand and subject to an interest rate of 7.375% and receivables amounting to 589,908 which is
repayable on demand and is not subject to interest.
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14.

15.

Other receivables - continued

Amounts due from subsidiaries include the provision of subordinated loans amounting to
€14,000,000 bearing interest at rates ranging between 5% and 6.5% (2019: 4% and 6.5%) and
receivables amounting to €942,461 which not subject to interest.

As at 31 December 2020, amounts due from other related parties are repayable on demand and
not subject to interest.

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority.

The following amounts determined after appropriate offsetting are shown in the statement of
financial position:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Deferred tax assets 368,649 - 49,428 -
Deferred tax liabilities (2,133,404} (1,995,557} - -

{1,764,755) (1,995,557) 49,428 -

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method and are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liabllity Is settled based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. The principal tax rates used are 35% (2019: 35%) in relation to the Maltese
jurisdiction, being the effective tax rate at Company level, and 15.825% (2019: 15.825%}) in respect
of the German fiscal authority.

Under Maltese corporate income tax rules, refunds are available to shareholders of Maltese
companies following the distribution of profits to the shareholders. The ‘standard’ refund amounts to
six-sevenths of the tax paid in Malta, resulting in a net post-refund effective tax rate in Malta
typically amounting to 5%. This effective tax rate has been utilised for the purpose of the
consolidated financial information.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Unremitted earnings 319,221 - - -
Unabsorbed tax losses 49,428 - 49, 428 -
Fair valuation of properties (2,133,404) (1,995,557) - -

(1,764,755) (1,995,557) 49,428 -
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15.

Deferred tax - continued

The deferred tax liability relates predominantly to deferred tax liabilities arising on the investment
properties of the Group's subsidiaries Merkanti (A) International Limited and Merkanti (D)
International Limited.

The deferred tax liability is calculated on the difference between the balance sheet value of the
investment property, being the fair value as per the external valuation report, less the tax cost as
stipulated by the local German GAAP, which would be the capital gain recognised upon the sale of
these assets. This difference is multiplied by the German tax rate of 15.825%.

These two companies were redomiciled to Malta with effect from 8 July 2019, and as a result
became subject to Maltese income tax.

For Maltese income tax purposes, any unrealised fair value gains derived from the revaluation of
the investment properties of the Group’s subsidiaries Merkanti (A) International Limited and
Merkanti (D) International Limited should also result in a deferred tax liability. Such deferred tax
liability should be calculated by multiplying the fair value gains, being the difference between the
value of the immovable properties as at year end less their cost of acquisition, with the standard
corporate rate of tax in Malta of 35%.

However, for Maltese income tax purposes, in terms of Article 4A of the Maltese Income Tax Act
(Chapter 123, Laws of Malta), there is an election for immovable properties to be deemed to be
assets acquired by the companies on the date of their redomiciliation to Malta at a cost which is
deemed to be their market value as at that date.

Furthermore, when calculating the capital gain for Maltese income tax purposes derived upon the
future transfer of any of the immovable properties, the companies are able to claim relief from tax
suffered in Germany by way of a tax credit against the Maltese income tax liability, if any. As a
result, as at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no tax liability is expected to arise in Malta over the
foreseeable future and accordingly the German tax rate remains suitable for determining the
Group's deferred tax liability in this respect.

The deferred tax asset in respect of unremitted earnings arises as a result of profits earned by
Merkanti Diesel Ltd, and is calculated as the difference between the Maltese corporate income tax
rate of 35% to which the profits earned by Merkanti Diesel Ltd are subject, and the effective tax rate
of 5% at consolidated level, which difference represents the amount of the Malta tax refund
available to Merkanti Holding p.l.c. following a dividend distribution by Merkanti Diesel Ltd. This tax
asset has not been offset against current tax liabilities arising in respect of profits earned by
Merkanti Diesei Ltd as the balances are not expected to be settled on a net basis.

The deferred tax asset amounting to €49,428 pertains to unabsorbed tax losses of the Company as
at 31 December 2020,

The recognised deferred tax asset and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled after more
than 12 months from the end of the reporting period.
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15.

16.

Deferred tax - continued

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are all recognised in profit or loss, are

analysed below:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

€ € € €

As at 1 January ' {1,995,557) - - -

Deferred tax liabilities arising from

acquisitions of subsidiaries - (1,671,397) - -
Deferred tax asset arising in respect of

unremitted earnings 319,221 - - -
Deferred tax asset arising in respect of

unabsorbed tax losses 49,428 - 49,428 -
Deferred tax liabilities arising on the fair

valuation of properties (137,847) (324,160) - -

As at 31 December {1,764,755) (1,995,557) 49,428 -

At 31 December 2020, the Group had unutilised tax losses amounting to €63.3 million (2019: €63.5
million} on which no deferred tax asset was recognised in the statement of financial position in view
Similarly, as at 31 December 2020, the
Company had unutilised tax losses amounting to €909,986 (2019: €72,212) on which no deferred
tax asset was recognised Tax losses have no expiry date and can be carried forward indefinitely.

of the uncertainty of realisation of these tax benefits.

Accrued income and other assets

Company
2020 2019
€ €

1,408,444 923,014
72,476 450,934
38,147 33,178

Group

2020 2019
€ €

Accrued interest and other income
receivable 1,380,485 1,149,129
Other assets 105,798 502,778
Prepayments 189,629 117,668
1,675,912 1,769,575

1,519,067 1,407,128
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17.

18.

19.

Share capital

2020 2019
€ €

Authorised
100,000,000 (2019: 100,000,000) Ordinary shares of €1 each 100,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid up shares
50,000,000 (2019: 50,000,000) Ordinary shares of €1 each 50,000,000 50,000,000
Issued but not fully paid up shares
20,000 (2019: nil) Ordinary shares of €1 of which €0.25 is paid 20,000 -
Total shares issued 50,020,000 50,000,000

By the virtue of resolution dated 10 September 2020 and with effect on 20 October 2020, the
Company’s shareholders approved the increase in issued share capital by €20,000 though the
allotment of 20,000 shares at €1 per share fo Merchants Employees Incentive Corp, a third party.
Qut of these, 25% have been fully paid up and the remaining 75% have been called and are
accordingly included under ‘Other receivables’ (Note 14). The Company’s shares issued until 31
December 2019 are fully paid.

Contribution reserve

2020 2019
€ €
At beginning and end of year . 2,540,000 2,540,000

The contribution reserve relates to the amount paid by the ultimate parent company on behaif of
Merkanti Holding p.l.c. as part of the consideration to acquire Merkanti Bank in 2016. This
contributed amount is free from all claims, charges, liens, equities and encumbrances and it is
made as a contribution into the distributable reserves of Merkanti Holding p.l.c. The contribution is
irrevocable and unconditional.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve reflects the effects of the fair value measurement of financial investments

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, net of any deferred taxes. This
reserve is non-distributable,
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20,

21,

Non-controlling interests

Group
2020 2019
€ €
At beginning of year 1,878,245 5,202,619
Impact of increase of additional stakes in subsidiaries - {3,645,351)
Share of profits attributable to non-controlling interests 26,730 320,977
Dividends distributed during the year (76,500} -
At end of year 1,828,475 1,878,245

On 30 December 2020, Merkanti (A) International Limited and Merkanti (D) International Limited
declared and paid dividends amounting to €1,000,000 and €500,000 respectively to the ordinary
shareholders in accordance with their proportionate shares held in these property companies.

Borrowings

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Non-current
€25 million 4% Bonds 2026 24,380,571 24,287,159 24,380,571 24,287,159
Amounts due from subsidiaries - - 3,600,000 ' -
Total borrowings 24,380,571 24,287,159 27,980,571 24,287,159

As at 31 December 2020, the amounts due from subsidiaries are subject to fixed interest of 2.5%
and mature on 30 June 2022.

By virtue of an offering memorandum dated 18 July 2019, the Company issued €25,000,000
secured bonds with a face value of €100 each. The bonds have a coupon interest of 4% which is
payable annually in arrears on 12 August of each year. The bonds are redeemable at par and are
due for redemption on 12 August 2026. The bonds are secured by real estate owned by the
property companies within the Group by means of the German Law Mortgages, the Pledges of
shares and the Pledges of Deposited Monies. The bonds were admitted on the Official List of the
Malta Stock Exchange on 16 August 2019. The qucted market price as at 31 December 2020 for
the bonds was €100.01 (2019: €100.4), which in the opinion of the directors fairly represents the fair
value of these financial liabilities. At the end of the reporting period, none of the bonds were held
by company directors.
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21,

22,

23.

Borrowings - continued
The bonds are measured at the amount of the net proceeds adjusted for the amortisation of the

difference between the net proceeds and the redemption value of such bonds, using the effective
yield method as follows:

Group and Company

2020 2019

€ €

Qriginal face value of bonds issued 25,000,000 25,000,000
Bond issue costs 738,196 738,196
Accumulated amortisation (118,767) (25,355)
Unamortised bond issue costs 619,429 712,841

Amortised cost and closing carrying amount of the bonds 24,380,571 24,287,159

Derivative liabilities

During 2020, the Company entered into an agreement in which it granted an option to a third party
to acquire 435 shares (36.25%) in a fully owned subsidiary, exercisable upon settlement of all

litigation claims within a portfolio of claims held by the subsidiary at an exercise price of €1.00, and

simultaneously, upon the exercise of the option, retaining the right to re-acquire all of the shares at
the net tangible asset value of the said subsidiary (‘the underlying’). As at 31 December 2020, this
contract has given rise to a derivative liability with a fair value of €368,149, which has been largely
determined by reference to the net asset position of the said subsidiary.

The derivative liabilities as at 31 December 2019 relates to the forward purchase of GBP 450,000
against the euro at a forward foreign exchange rate of 0.8749. The currency derivative has been
entered to hedge the foreign currency exposure arising in respect of an investment denominated in
GBP.

Amounts owed to customers

Group 2020 2019
€ €
Call accounts 6,985,729 10,216,459

Amounts owed to customers include an amount of €3,795,470 (2019: €4,989,345) due by the
Group to related parties. As at 31 December 2020, all amounts owed to customers were not subject
to interest. As at 31 December 2019, amounts owed to customers are not subject to interest except
for amounts owed to third parties amounting to €2,324,661 which were subject fo an interest rate of
0.75%.

Amounts owed to customers are classified as liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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24,

25.

26.

Other payables

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Trade payables 582,704 178,605 62,334 101,147
582,704 178,605 62,334 101,147
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Accrued interest and fee expense 333,733 331,419 333,983 333,333
Accrued expenses and other payables 206,108 162,246 30,435 -

539,841 483,665 364,418 333,333

Contingent liabilities and commitments
Legal proceedings

The Scully Royalty Limited {SRL) group is subject to routine litigation incidental to its business and
is named from time to time as a defendant in various legal actions arising in connection with its
activities, certain of which may include large claims for punitive damages. Due to the size,
complexity and nature of SRL group's operations, various legal and fax matters are
outstanding. Scully Royalty Limited, the Company's ultimate parent company and certain of its
subsidiaries, including the Company, have been named as a defendant in a legal action in a foreign
jurisdiction relating to an alleged guarantee of the former parent of the SRL group in the amount of
approximately €43 million. On the basis of legal advice, the directors of the Company believe that
such a claim in respect of the Company is without merit,

The directors infend to vigorously defend such claim. Morecver, the Company has initiated
litigation locally in Malta seeking a declaratory judgment against the plaintiff in regards to this claim.
In addition, the Company has cbtained additional risk mitigation securities for this litigation to
mitigate the possibility for any potential loss.
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26.

27.

Contingent liabilities and commitments - continued
Operating lease commitments — where the Group is a lessor

The operating lease agreements entered into by the Group with the tenants of its properties
typically either have a maturity of between one to three years and are non-cancellable, or
alternatively are entered into on an indefinite basis but are cancellable by the tenant at notice of up
to six-months.

During 2020, the Company has also entered into an arrangement with one of its subsidiaries to
sub-lease part of the premises which it leases. The lease between Merkanti Holding p.L.c. and the
landlord of the offices and the sub-lease agreement are both for a term of 5 years.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as
follows:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
- Not later than one year 1,296,841 1,093,714 74,965 -

- Later than one year and not later than three 549,196 846,212 152,676 -
- Later than three years and not later than five 21,080 26,006 94,795 -

1,867,117 1,965,932 322,436 -

Interest income

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2018
€ € € €
On financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income:
- coupon interest 123,154 154,504 - -
- net amortisation of premiums and discounts {73,152) (85,349) - -
On investment securities measured at amortised
- coupon interest - 12,305 - -
- net amortisation of premiums and discounts - (422) - -
On financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss
- coupon interest 31,346 45,448 - -
On financial assets mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit or loss 100,611 - - -
On financial assets measured at amortised cost:
On loans and advances to banks and
other financial institutions 2,982 16,316 -
On loans and advances to customers 479,773 203,987 -
On receivables from ultimate parent company 798,664 306,177 454,993 306,177
On receivables from subsidiaries - - 828,164 252,485
On other receivables - 15 - -

1,463,378 652,981 1,283,157 558,662
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28.

29,

30.

Interest expense

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €

On ameounts owed to banks and
other financial institutions 71,930 23,466 - -
On amounts owed to related parties 17,541 - 63,541 -
On amounts owed to customers 30,061 20,412 - -
On borrowings 1,093,412 376,107 1,093,412 376,107
On lease liabilities 27,007 7,208 26,195 2,168
1,239,951 427,193 1,183,148 378,275

Fee and commission income and expense
(a) Fee and commission incomne

The Group derives revenue from the provision of services over time, as follows:

Group
2020 2019
€ €
Merchant banking fees 492,494 2,077,712
Fee income on factoring services 6,550 18,908
Other fee income 259,167 125,866

758,211 2,222,486

{b) Fee and commission expense

Group
2020 2019
€ €
Other fee expense 6,051 1,653

The Company's fee and commission income and expense relate to merchant banking services
provided during 2020 and 2019.

Rental income from investment property
Rental income is generated through lease agreements entered into by Merkanti A and Merkanti D

in respect of their investment property. The Company also generates rental income through a sub-
isase agreement with one of its subsidiaries.
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31.

32.

33.

34.

Net trading gains

- Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €

Net fair value losses on derivative }

financial instruments {365,453) {64,952) (368,149) -
Fair value movements on financial

instruments mandatorily

measured at FVPL 1,147,161 731,905 - -
Foreign exchange differences (4,458) 82,458 - -
Other income - - 924,535 -
777,250 749,411 556,386 -

The Company entered into an agreement in which it granted an option to a third party to acquire 435
shares (36.25%) in a fully owned subsidiary, exercisable upon settlement of all litigation claims within
the portfolio of the fully owned subsidiary. As at 31 December 2020, this contract has given rise to a
derivative liability with a fair value of €368,149, which has been largely determined by reference to
the net asset position of the said subsidiary (Note 22).

During 2020, the Company has also entered into an agreement to sell the right to receive dividends
out of profits emanating from this business, irrespective of the option agreement referred to above,
to Merkanti (A) International Limited for a fixed consideration of €924,535, included within ‘Other
income'.

Revenue from customer contracts

The Group derives revenue from the sale of commodities. These revenues derive from a single
external customer and are recognised at the point in time when control of the commedities has
transferred, being when the commodities are delivered to the customer and the customer has full
discretion over the use of the commodities, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer's acceptance of the commodities. This occurs upon delivery, which marks the point at
which the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and the customer
has accepted the commodities in accordance with the sales contract.

Dividend income

Dividend income represents dividends received by the Company from its subsidiaries Merkanti A
and Merkanti D.

Other operating income

Other income relates primarily to recharges made to related parties for expenses paid by the
Company to certain officers and cther professional service firms.
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Changes in expected credit losses

36,

Group
2020 2019
€ €
Change in expected credit losses:
- loans and advances to banks (1,554) 7,139
- loans and advances fo customers 61,607 81,366
- financial assets measured at FVOCI (1,679) 2,107
58,374 90,612
Expenses by nature
Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Cost of sales in respect of revenue
from customer contracts 2,487,576 - - -
Staff costs
- Staff salaries 1,538,455 637,113 - -
- Social security cosis 37,164 24,642 - -
- Other staff costs 110,696 537,710 - -
Directors’ emoluments 509,330 425,630 81,922 49,725
Repairs and maintenance 337,399 648,573 11,445 -
Professional fees 897,055 262,060 1,084,981 372,500
Marketing costs 188,131 25,817 - -
Utilities and janitorial expenses 150,968 206,155 8,139 -
Information technology 181,314 170,347 10,742 -
Property administration expenses - 450,000 -
Short-term lease expenses - 141,207 38,137 -
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 11) 94,610 46,225 24,737 2,586
Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 12) 7,441 11,151 - -
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets {(Note 13) 165,640 63,555 145,343 5,469
Insurance costs 59,532 53,121 - -
Taxes and licenses 85,297 84,738 - -
Other administrative expenses 679,638 335,683 675,443 15,918
Total direct costs and administrative
expenses 7,530,246 4,123,727 2,080,389 446,198

Other administrative expenses mainly comprise other services or expense items which are incurred
in the course of the Group's operations.

As at 31 December 2020, professional fees amounting to €480,000 included above have been
recharged by the Company to related parties (Note 34).
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36. Administrative expenses - continued

Average number of persons employed by the Group throughout the financial year:

- Managerial
- Clerical

Auditor’s remuneration

Group

2020 2019
11 9
12 4
23 13

Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial year relate to the following:

Group

2020

€

Annual statutory audit 116,500
Audit of the consclidated financial

statements -

Tax services 8,435

Other non-audit services -

2019
€

92,500

6,550
98,500

Company
2020 2019
€ €
4,000 4,000
20,000 13,500
8,435 6,550
- 98,500

37. Tax expensel{income)

The Group's and Company's tax expense/(income) recognised in profit or loss is analysed below:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Current tax expense 453,733 80,155 - 1,200
Deferred tax (income)/expense (230,802) 324,160 (49,378) -
222,931 404,315 {(49,378) 1,200
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37. Tax expense/(income) - continued

The tax on the Group’s and Company's profit before tax, differs from the theoretical amount that
would arise using the effective tax rate applicable to the Group as follows:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
Profit before tax 352,091 3,320,665 579,434 (9,431)
Tax on profit at 35% 123,232 673,941 202,802 (3,301)
Tax effect of:
Application of different tax rates in 118.742 ) ) -
overseas jurisdictions ’
Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 177,549 77,133 250,950 4,501
Income not subject to tax - - (821,625) -
Utilisation of unabsorbed tax
losses carried forward from
previous years (61,464) (348,759) - -
Unrecognised deferred tax
movements in respect of unutilised
tax losses arising during
the year 184,093 - 318,495 -
Application of lower effective tax :
rate applicable in respect of -
unremitted earnings (318,221) . )
222,931 404,315 {49,378) 1,200

38. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents compiise the following
balances with contractual maturities of not more than three months and which form an integral part
of the Group's cash management:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

€ € € €

Balances with Central Bank of Malta
(Note 4) 12,258,984 10,348,258 - -
Cash in hand {Note 4) 1,000 1,000 - -

Loans and advances to banks and

other financial institutions (Note 5) 3,949,666 16,893,485 7,495,181 5,063,822
16,209,650 27,242,743 7,495,181 5,053,822

Non-cash transactions

During 2020, equity securities valued at €267,180 and classified at year end as investments
measured at FVPL were assigned to the Company in seftlement of receivables from a third party for
the same amount. The acquisition of investments in subsidiaries during the year amounting ta
€212,741 were also assigned to the Company in settlement of other assets from a related party.
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38.

39.

Cash and cash equivalents - continued

During 2019, equity securities valued at €2,750,000 and classified at year end as investment
measured at FVPL were assigned to the Group in settlement of receivables from related parties for
the same amount.

Related party transactions

Related parties of the Group include the ultimate parent company, Scully Royalty Limited, all
entities controlled by the ultimate parent, key management personnel, close family members of key
management personnel and entities which are controlled or jointly controlled by key management
personnel or their close family members. Key management personnel are defined as those
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the Group, being the Company’s directors.

During the year, the Group carried out the following transactions in the ordinary course of business
with the ultimate parent company and its controlled entities and at year end had the following
balances with these entities:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
Note € € € €
Assets
Loans and advances o banks and other 5
financial institutions: .
- Balances with a subsidiary bank - . - 7,492,178 5,053,822
Loans and advances fo cusfomers: 6
- Loans to ultimate parent company 2,650,000 2,650,000 - -
- Loans to other related parties 7,763,602 1,219,867 - -
Equity instruments measured at FVPL
issued by other related parties 7 3,017,180 2,750,000 267,180 -
Other recelvables: 14
- Amounts due from ultimate parent
company 11,386,986 10,773,337 6,137,078 6,113,337
- Amounts due from cther related 699,491 - 699,491
- Amounts due from subsidiaries - - 14,942,461 14,000,000
Accrued income and other assets: 16
- Accrued income from ultimate parent
company 1,210,259 411,638 858,342 403,349
- Accrued income from other related 1,599 362,076 - -
- Accrued income from subsidiaries - - 550,102 252,485
Liabilities
Borrowings from subsidiaries 21 - - 3,600,000 -
Amounts owed to custormers:! 23
- Amounts owed to ultimate parent 5,160 1,057 - -
- Amounts owed to related parties 3,790,310 4,988,288 - -
Other payables:
- Payables to minority interests 76,500 - - -
- Payables to ultimate parent company 1,904 - - -
- Payables to other related parties 39,598 8,810 - -
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39.

Related party transactions - continued

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
Note € € € €
Income statement
Interest income: 27
- On loans to and recelvables from
ultimate parent company 948,223 454,202 454,993 306,177
- On loans to and recelvables from
other related parties 330,214 55,962 - -
- On loans to and recelvables from
Subsidiaries - - 828,164 252,485
Interest expense: 28
- On amounts owed to other related
parties 40,869 15,790 17,541 -
- On borrowings from subsidiaries - - 46,000 -
Fee and commission income: 29
- From ultimate parent company 32,090 987,203 - -
- From other related parties 608,824 727,800 - 137,000
Fee and commission expense from 29
subsidiaries - - - 137,000
Rental income: 30 - 358,234 70,991 -
- From ultimate parent company 6,417 223,631 - -
- From other related parties - 99,406 - -
- From subsidiaries - - 70,991 N
Net trading gains 31 - - 924,535 -
Dividend income from subsidiaries 33 - - 1,423,500 -
Other operating income: 34
- From other related parties 480,000 “ 480,000 -
- From subsidiaries - - 18,287 -
Administrative expenses 36
- Expenses paid to other related parties 293,842 605,194 293,842 348,300
- Compensation of key management
personnel 89,840 - 89,840 -
- Expenses paid to subsidiaries - - 987,999 -

Loans and advances to other related parties comprise of purchased receivable transactions
exposing the Group to credit risk to a third party.

Accrued income and other assets comprise of interests and fees receivable.

In addition, as indicated in Note 38, during 2020, equity securities issued by a related party, valued at
€267,180 and classified at year end as investments measured at FVPL were assigned to the
Company in settlement of consultancy services that were performed by the Company for a third party.

Also, during 2020, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in AIM and MFCR Oriental 5.A, from a
subsidiary of Scully Royalty Limited. The consideration of the acquisition amounting to €212,741 was
received In settlement of receivables that were outstanding as at 31 December 2019.

The administrative expense of the Group includes costs amounting to €284,017 that were paid on behalf
of related parties for services granted by a consultancy company owned by one of the Company's key
management personnel and salaries of key management personnel amounting to €89,840. The
administrative expense of the Company also includes costs amounting to €129,600 that were paid fo a
subsidiary for the mercantile services provided to the Company. These expenses have been reimbursed
to other related parties and are accordingly included above within ‘Other operating income’.
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39,

40.

Related party fransactions - continued

Key management personnel compensation, consisting of directors’ remuneration, has been
disclosed in Note 36 to these financial statements. Directors’ emoluments comprise solely of short-
term employee benefits.

Segmental information

The Group provides a comprehensive range of services to its customers, which are organised into
the following reportable segments in terms of IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments'.

iy banking and financial services, through which the Group provides niche merchant banking
services;

iy property rental & management activities, which involves the leasing and management of
industrial space for storage and production facilities as well as for office space; and

iy physical commodities trading, through which the Group purchases and distributes a specific
commodity.

The Board considers the reportable segments referred o above to represent the most appropriate
information for the users of the financial statements to best evaluate the nature and financial effects
of the business activities in which the Group engages, and the economic environments in which it
operates.

The financial information for the reportable segments in relation to the year ended 31 December
2020 is presented in the table below. Since the physical commodities trading activities were
acquired by the Group in July 2020, the Group had two reportable segments during the year ended
31 December 2019.
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Segmental information - continued

Segment total assets

Segment equity

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Rental income from investment property

Changes in the fair value of
investment property

Net trading gains

Realised gains on disposal of financial
assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Realised gains on disposal of investment
properties

Revenue from customer contracts

Other operating income

Total operating income

Changes in expected credit losses

Cost of sales in respect of
revenue from customer contracts

Net operating income
Administrative expenses

Reportable (loss)/profit before tax

Group
As at 31 December 2020
Property
Banking and rental and Physical
financial management commodities
services activities trading Total
€ € € €
54,854,068 33,598,954 372,765 88,825,787
13,548,110 39,066,360 533,211 53,147,681
Group
As at 31 December 2020
Property
Banking and rental and Physical
financial management commodities Total
services activities trading ota
€ € € €
1,463,378 - - 1,463,378
(781,363) (458,588) - (1,239,951)
682,015 (458,588) - 223,427
758,211 - - 758,211
(6,051) - - {6,051)
752,160 - - 752,160
- 1,996,018 - 1,996,018
- 484,662 - 484,662
777,250 - - 777,250
45,666 - - 45,666
- 126,884 126,884
- - 3,003,530 3,003,530
514,906 16,208 - 531,114
2,771,997 2,165,184 3,003,530 7,940,711
(58,374) - - (58,374)
- - (2,487,576) {2,487,576)
2,713,623 2,165,184 515,954 5,394,761
(3,210,964) (1,811,630) {20,076) (5,042,670)
(497,341) 353,554 495,878 352,091
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40. Segmental information - continued

Group
As at 31 December 2019
Property rental and

Banking and management
financial services activities Total
€ € €
Segment total assets 49,966,621 40,997,845 90,964,466
Segment equity 13,928,313 38,740,508 52,668,821
Group

As at 31 December 2019
Property rental and

b P

Banking and management
financial services activities Total
€ € €
Interest and similar income 652,981 - 652,981
Interest and similar expense (269,471) (157,722) (427,193)
Net interest income 383,510 (157,722) 225,788
Fee and commission income 2,222 486 - 2,222 486
Fee and commission expense (1,653) - (1,653)
Net fee and commission income 2,220,833 - 2,220,833
Rental income from investment property - 2,156,201 2,156,201
Changes in the fair value of
investment property - 2,069,000 2,069,000
Net trading gains 748,411 - 749,411
Realised gains on disposal of financial
assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income 8,958 - 8,958
Other operating income 34,737 70,076 104,813
Operating income 3,397,449 4,137,555 7,535,004
Changes in expected credit losses (90,612) - {90,612)
Administrative expenses (2,567,427) (1,556,300) {(4,123,727)
Reportable profit before tax 739,410 2,581,255 3,320,665
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41.

Statutory information

Merkanti Holding p.l.c. is a limited liability company and was incorporated in Malta on 28 May 2015,
having its registered address at Aragon House Business Centre, Dragonara Road, St Julian’s, STJ
3140, Malta.

The immediate and ultimate parent company of Merkanti Holding p.l.c. is Scully Royalty Limited
(formerly MFC Bancorp Ltd), a company registered in The Cayman Islands under the registration
number HS-323455 and having its registered office at Harneys Services (Cayman) Limited, 4th
Floor Harbour Place, 103 South Church Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman islands. Scully
Royalty Limited is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE:SRL).
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